



# netTerrain 9.8

**Power User Guide** 



## Contents

1 About this guide	б
1.1 Who should use it	6
1.2 Assumptions	6
2 Catalog basics	6
2.1 Accessing the catalog	7
2.1.1 Accessing a specific node type directly from the project	7
2.2 Summary and groups	8
2.3 Object types	9
2.3.1 Object fields	13
2.3.2 Visual overrides for objects	16
2.4 Categories	19
2.4.1 Category views	20
2.4.1.1 Bulk operations with categories	22
2.5 Vendors list	23
3 Node types	24
3.1 Nodes vs smart objects	24
3.1.1 Can I use nodes to represent devices?	25
3.2 Managing Node types	26
3.2.1 Node fields	29
3.2.2 Visual overrides and list items for nodes	33
3.3 Creating node types	36
3.3.1 Adding a node type by dragging and dropping	38
3.3.2 Creating custom fields for nodes	39
3.3.2.1 Deleting a custom field	43
3.3.3 Creating list items and visual overrides for a node field	44
3.3.3.1 Deleting an override or list item	46
4 Link types	46
4.1 Managing link types	47
4.1.1 Link types view	47
4.1.2 Link fields	52
4.1.3 Visual overrides for links	56
4.2 Creating link types	58
4.2.1 Creating custom fields for links	61
4.2.1.1 Default custom fields for links	66

4.2.1.2 Deleting a custom field	68
4.2.2 Creating list items and visual overrides for a link field	69
4.2.2.1 Deleting an override or list item	71
4.3 Cables and strands	72
4.3.1 Creating a cable with strands	72
4.3.2 Strand lists	73
4.3.3 Strand colors	75
4.3.4 Strand fields	76
4.3.5 Breakout cables	77
4.4 Circuits	78
4.4.1 Circuit fields	79
5 Smart objects	80
5.1 Racks	81
5.1.1 Creating a rack type	81
5.1.1.1 Creating a rack from a Json or Zip package	81
5.1.1.2 Creating a rack manually	82
5.1.1.3 Limiting inventory with the 'In stock' option	83
5.1.1.4 Default custom fields for racks	84
5.1.2 Rack modeling process	86
5.1.3 Dual view racks (front and back)	90
5.1.3.1 Coupled Front / Back mounting on dual racks	91
5.1.4 Adding a rack type by dragging and dropping	92
5.1.5 Special rack fields	94
5.1.6 Custom rack fields	96
5.1.6.1 Deleting a custom field	100
5.1.7 Predefined rack visual overrides	101
5.1.8 Creating list items and visual overrides for a rack field	102
5.1.8.1 Deleting an override or list item	104
5.2 Smart devices	104
5.2.1 Creating a new device	105
5.2.1.1 Creating a device from a Json or Zip package	106
5.2.1.2 Creating a device manually	106
5.2.1.3 Limiting inventory with the 'In stock' option	109
5.2.1.4 Custom OIDs	109
5.2.1.5 Default custom fields for devices	109
5.2.2 Device modeling process	112
5.2.2.1 Device properties	112
5.2.2.2 Backplane image	113
5.2.2.3 Port modeling	114

5.2.2.4 Modeling references	116
5.2.2.5 Working with text and displayed fields	118
5.2.2.6 Modeling reference node display field positioning	119
5.2.2.7 Creating predefined links (or cross connections)	120
5.2.2.8 Modeling bend points	123
5.2.3 Modeling slots	124
5.2.3.1 Mapping cards to slots	125
5.2.4 Adding a device type by dragging and dropping	128
5.2.5 Special device fields	130
5.2.6 Custom device fields	132
5.2.6.1 Deleting a custom field	136
5.2.7 Creating list items and visual overrides for a device field	137
5.2.7.1 Deleting an override or list item	138
5.2.8 Port object	138
5.3 Creating and modeling cards	139
5.3.1 Predefined card properties	141
5.3.2 Adding cards	142
5.3.2.1 Default custom fields for cards	143
5.3.3 Card modeling	144
5.3.3.1 Card properties	145
5.3.3.2 Backplane image	146
5.3.3.3 Port modeling	146
5.3.3.4 Modeling references	149
5.3.3.5 Working with text and displayed fields	150
5.3.3.6 Modeling reference node display field positioning	151
5.3.3.7 Modeling slots for cards	152
5.3.4 Special card fields	152
5.3.5 Custom card fields	154
5.3.5.1 Deleting a custom field	158
5.3.6 Creating list items and visual overrides for a card field	159
5.3.6.1 Deleting an override or list item	160
6 Special objects	160
6.1 Palette object and picture fields	162
6.2 Field or property tags (layering)	165

#### Document Code. GN\_D\_nT9-02 Last revision: 06/18/2024

© 2024 Graphical Networks LLC. All rights reserved.

Graphical Networks and netTerrain are registered trademarks of Graphical Networks LLC. Other product names mentioned in this manual may be trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies and are hereby acknowledged.

If rash, irritation, redness, or swelling develops, discontinue reading. Safety goggles may be required during use. Do not eat this guide. This disclaimer is not intended as legal advice. For that, better call Saul.

Image: Black Forest, Germany.

Graphical Networks LLC Telephone: + 1-240-912-6223 Fax: +1-240-912-6339 (anybody still uses these?)

## **1 About this guide**

This document is divided into the following chapters:

- Chapter 1, "About this guide".
- Chapter 2, "Catalog Basics".
- Chapter 3, "Creating and modeling DCIM types"

## 1.1 Who should use it

A netTerrain Power User can modify any data in the project (the end user work area) but is also tasked with managing catalog settings and their associated object types, such as nodes, devices, racks, cards and links. This is guide is then for you, dear Power User.

## **1.2 Assumptions**

This guide assumes basic knowledge of browser navigation and general computer and networking knowledge. We also expect you to know the basic aspects of netTerrain project management (navigation, object manipulation, etc.).

## **2 Catalog basics**

The netTerrain catalog is the place where power users or administrators can create and manage netTerrain types, which include nodes, devices, racks, cards and links, among other objects.

Throughout this guide we will also make several references to the project, which is the user area where diagrams are created.

Also, it is important to differentiate a so-called "instance" from a type. A type is an object created in the netTerrain catalog, which has certain properties and behaviors. Types are then "instantiated" in the project. So, for example we may have a type called "chair" in the catalog, and an instance of that chair on the top left corner of room 1A in the project. A less generic example (better suited for netTerrain DCIM) would be a type called "Cisco 6509" and an instance, such as the "main Pittsburgh ring 6509 switch", with a DNS name "Pit-6509-1". In this latter example "Pit-6509-1" will inherit all the common properties defined in the catalog for the Cisco 6509, such as width, height, backplane image, peak power consumption, slots, motherboard

ports, etc. The instance can also contain properties all its own, such as an IP address, MAC addresses, rack position, supervisor pager #, and so on.

## 2.1 Accessing the catalog

The catalog console area is restricted to users with admin or power user permissions. First, you must log into netTerrain and then to access the catalog simply click on the catalog button, displayed in every netTerrain page right there on the top right section of the page, as depicted below:



Accessing the catalog

You may access the catalog from the project or the admin console, since this button is visible in any view in netTerrain (assuming you are a Power User or better, of course).

If you want to return from the catalog to the project, you can do the following:

- Click on the project button, which takes you back to the project's top level
- Click on the left arrow, to the left of the project button, which takes you back to the last diagram you visited in the project
- Click on the browser back button, which will take you to the previous project diagram if you came from the project during the current session



Using the project button and arrow to return to the project

## 2.1.1 Accessing a specific node type directly from the project

netTerrain has a nice shortcut to access a node type directly from the project. Simply double click on the node type in the catalog pane (on the project), and netTerrain takes you straight to the catalog, displaying the type in the node type list view.



Double-clicking on node item in catalog pane

This shortcut comes in handy to get directly to a catalog definition of a node without having to click through several pages. Notice that you still must be a power user or administrator to take advantage of this feature.

## 2.2 Summary and groups

Once you click on the catalog button, you will access the so-called catalog dashboard, which consists of several sections, including one concerning object types (more on the other sections later).

Object Types	Summary			Groups			
	Total Object Types	18218	Add new	Nodes	137		Add new
.ink Types	Categories	15	Add new	Line Nodes	0		Add new
Other Objects	Fields	1309293	Add new	Racks	207	Default Custom Fields	Add new
Strict Objects	Visual Overrides	1627717	Add new	Devices	11660	Default Custom Fields	Add new
	Property Event Types	0	Add new	Cards	6207	Default Custom Fields	Add new
	Vendors	746	Add new	Port Object			
	Import Node Type						

Object type section of catalog dashboard

Below is a review of the different links associated with the object types section:

#### Summary

- Total Object Types: click on the ## value to open a table view of all object types within the netTerrain catalog.
- Categories: click on the ## value to open a table view of all categories within the netTerrain catalog.
- Fields: click on the ## value to see a table view of fields within netTerrain for all object types.
- Visual Overrides: click the ## to open a table view of all fields that have visual overrides.
- Property Event Types: click the ## to open a table view of all property event types.
- Vendors: click the ## to open a table view with a list of vendors in the current catalog.

#### Groups

- Nodes: click on the ## value to open a table view of all node types within the netTerrain catalog.
- Rack: click on the ## value to open a table view of all rack types.
- Devices: click on the ## value to open a table view of all device.
- Cards: click on the ## value to open a table view of all card types.
- Port Object: This is a shortcut to the port node type in the catalog.

Each section also has a link to create a new catalog entry directly from this view. Racks, devices and cards also have a link to create default custom fields (more on that below).

## 2.3 Object types

The 'total object types' section provides a list view of all the objects (nodes, racks, devices, cards) that exist in the netTerrain catalog.

GRAP	HICAL PORKS					🔇 ва	ck to project	•		3   <b>X</b>	۹ 🗘	000
Objec	ct Types [Switch to ca	itegory vie	ew] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json	Α					В	Records in table: 15389	Records on page: 100
Filter		Apply	Clear C						D	Records per	page 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
	E	Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height
69	▯▥⊿ů	Device	3Com 4200G 24-port	~	(mmm***)	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
70	▯▥◢▫	Device	3Com 4200G 48-port	~	(	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
71	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200GPWR 24-port	~	( <b></b> *)	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
72	∁፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 18-port	~		12	0	0			1.42	0.175
73	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 26-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175
74	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 50-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175
75	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 9-port	~		12	0	0			0.92	0.175
76	∁፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4500 26-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175
77	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4500 50-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175
78 1 ou	<b>门前道也</b> t of 154 < > 1	Device Go	3Com 4500G 24-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175

#### Total object types list view

The elements that comprise this view include:

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button allows you to export the table view to a downloadable CSV file.
- Add new: selecting this will display a form to create a new object.
- Import Zip: Allows you to import a netTerrain device package as a zip file.
- Import Json: Allows you to import a netTerrain device package as a Json file.

GRAPH	ICAL JRKS					🔇 ва	ck to project	•	0 🗐 0	8   🗙 I	۹ 🗘	00
Object	t Types [Switch to ca	itegory vi	ew] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json	•						Records in table: 15389	Records on page: 100
Filter		Apply	Clear							Records per p	page 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
#		Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height
69	▯ݰ⊿ݨ	Device	3Com 4200G 24-port	~	(	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
70	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200G 48-port	~	(	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
71	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200GPWR 24-port	~	(	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
72	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 18-port	~		12	0	0			1.42	0.175
73	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 26-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175

#### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of objects in the table. For example, if this is the nodes view then this will display the total number of nodes in the catalog.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing.

9	GRAPH	ICAL					🔇 Ba	ck to project	•	0 🗐 0	3   🗙 🤻	۹ 🕈	00
	Objec	t Types <mark>(Switch to ca</mark>	ategory vie	ew] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json						<	Records in table: 15389	Records on page: 100
	Filter		Apply	Clear							Records per p	bage 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
	#		Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height
	69	▯▥◢ů	Device	3Com 4200G 24-port	~	[	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	70	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200G 48-port	~	(	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	71	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200GPWR 24-port	~	{ <b></b>	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	72	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 18-port	~		12	0	0			1.42	0.175
	73	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 26-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175

#### Section C

Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view. If you would only like to display the objects related to "Cisco" in their name, then type "Cisco" into the filter box and press the 'Apply' button. You can change the filter by simply typing in a different string and pressing the 'Apply' button. If you no longer need the filter, press the 'Clear' button to remove the filter.

0	GRAPH	ICAL DRKS					🔇 Ва	ck to project	•		3   🗙 🕻	۹ 🕈	00
	Objec	t Types [Switch to ca	ategory vi	ew] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json							Records in table: 15389	Records on page: 100
	Filter		Apply	Clear							Records per p	age 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
	#		Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height
	69	▯▥◢ů	Device	3Com 4200G 24-port	~	(mmmm *)	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	70	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200G 48-port	~	(muu uumu uum±2)	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	71	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200GPWR 24-port	~	(	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	72	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 18-port	~		12	0	0			1.42	0.175
	73	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 26-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can change the records per page value to a value that is less than the default value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to each record in netTerrain.
- Default Sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value, press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name". Changing the default sorting is temporary. The default is restored once you navigate away from the table view.

e	GRAPH	ICAL DRKS					🔇 Ва	ck to project	•	0 🗟 0	3   * 4	<b>م (</b>	00
	Objec	t Types <mark>(Switch to ca</mark>	itegory vie	ew] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json							Records in table: 15389	Records on page: 100
	Filter		Apply	Clear							Records per p	age 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
	#		Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height
	69	▯▥⊿⁰	Device	3Com 4200G 24-port	~	(mmmm)	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	70	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200G 48-port	~	[	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	71	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200GPWR 24-port	~	( <b></b> )	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	72	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 18-port	~		12	0	0			1.42	0.175
	73	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4210 26-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175

#### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Options (no label): the 'Delete' option allows you to delete an object. Note that you can only delete an object if it is not being used in netTerrain. If it is being used, you would need to remove all instances of the object before you can delete the object.
- Clone: this hyperlink, as the name implies, allows you to clone the type. It creates an exact replica with the type in the catalog, which you can then edit, rename, etc.
- Delete: this hyperlink, when enabled, lets you delete the type from the database. If instances of this type already exist, then the type cannot be deleted.
- Modeler: for devices, racks and cards, this hyperlink provides a shortcut to access the modeler page for that type (more on modeling can be found later in this guide).
- Group: every object type is associated with a certain internal group in netTerrain. The assigned group will be one of the following: node, rack, device, or card. Groups are fixed in netTerrain and cannot be edited, and new groups cannot be added.
- Name: the object's name, which can be changed by editing the text field.
- Category: the category is used as an organizational tool to help you manage and find objects according to custom categories that better suit your needs (more on categories later),
- Default image: the image that will be displayed for any new instances of the object. If there are visual overrides, these will override the default image when the visual override is triggered (more on that later).
- Fields: this number reveals the fields associated with the object and displayed a table with all those fields (more on this later).
- Overrides: overrides are rules associated with one or more fields for that type. Clicking on the overrides ## will redirect you to a table with all assigned overrides (more on that later).
- Instances: the number of instances that are active objects in the project. Clicking the number will provide a table of these instances. Note that this table is also editable, which can provide a useful way for quickly changing instance data in table view.
- Is Favorite: when checked, this object will appear in the object's type menu button in the project area or in the drag and drop catalog pane.



These menu buttons will be populated with a favorites list. Favorites can be added or removed at any time. They have no impact on existing objects in a diagram.

- Is Enabled: when checked, this object will be available to users in the project area as they pick an entry from the type drop down field. Objects marked as favorite cannot be disabled. You must first uncheck the favorite option before disabling it.
- Default width: the assigned width when a new instance is created. The instance's value can be changed as needed. To change the default width value simply edit the text field. The default size of an object can also be changed when right clicking on an object in the project and choosing the 'set default size' option.
- Default height: The assigned height when a new instance is created. The instance's value can be changed as needed. To change the default height value, edit the text field. The default size of an object can also be changed when right clicking on an object in the project and choosing the 'set default size' option.
- Keep aspect ratio: when checked, the ratio between height and width of the image will remain intact when expanding or decreasing the object's image in the project area. This can also be changed on an individual basis for each instance within the setting window for the object (see User's guide).
- Template: this drop-down field assigns a default diagram template (see creating diagram templates in the user guide) to the sub diagram of any new instance of that object type. So, any time this object is used in the project (i.e. an instance of it is created) its sub diagram will have this template automatically assigned.
- In Stock: this option lets you limit the number of instances of this type that can be added in the project. Notice that this option is only available for Racks and devices.
- Audit Trail: this link will take the user to a table consisting of a history of specific user's actions associated with the object type. Note that the audit trail can only be accessed by administrators.

6	GRAPH	ICAL JRKS					🔇 ва	ck to project		) 🗟 🤇	8   <b>% 1</b>	۹ 🗘	00
	Objec	t Types [Switch to ca	itegory vie	ew] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json							Records in table: 15389	Records on page: 100
	Filter		Apply	Clear							Records per p	bage 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
[	#		Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height
	69	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200G 24-port	~	(	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	70	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200G 48-port	~	{	12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	71	©፹⊿₫	Device	3Com 4200GPWR 24-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175
	72	©፹⊿ݨ	Device	3Com 4210 18-port	~	···· •··· •··· ··· ··· ··· ··· ··· ···	12	0	0			1.42	0.175
	73	©፹⊿ݨ	Device	3Com 4210 26-port	~		12	0	0			1.9	0.175

## 2.3.1 Object fields

The 'Fields' link will open a table with all fields associated with all objects in netTerrain. Below we will review the elements comprising this list view, but in general we do recommend accessing the field list for a given object directly from the object itself (see Fields option above).

Objec Filter	ct Fields To	csv Add new Tagging	] A C	Е			D	Reco	Re Re	cords in tabl	e: 143375 ow Id Field	Records on page: 100 Default sorting
#		Name 🔺	Туре	Is in Properties	Is Mandatory	Default Value		is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)
1	1	7500 field thingy	7500 Series				Apply	0	0	0		
2	Ē	Address	Building				Apply	0	0	0		
3	Ē	Address	Tower				Apply	0	0	0		D
4		Address	Mast				Apply	0	0	0		
5	Ē	Address	Pole				Apply	0	0	0		0

#### Field list view

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Create new: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new field.
- Tagging: the tagging button opens a tagging selection dialog, allowing you to assign a set of fields to a "Tag" (a label). All existing tags appear in the settings tab for a diagram in the netTerrain project. Fields associated with a tag label can be turned on and off within a diagram. So, you could assign a field like IP Address to a "Hide IP" tag. If you happen to be on a diagram that has objects containing that field, you could then turn on or off all IP Address fields without having to individually uncheck them from the properties window for each instance.

#### Section B

- Records in table: Displays the total number of fields in the table.
- Records on page: Displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing. The records per page default value can be set by the administrator within the admin console.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view. If you would only like to display the fields called IP Address, then you simply type in the search criteria into the filter box and press the 'Apply' button. You can change the filter by simply typing in new criteria and pressing the 'Apply' button. If you no longer need the filter press the 'Clear' button to remove the filter.

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. So, for instance if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50, simply proceed to change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.

• Default sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

#### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Options (no label): right next to the ## button there are two options under a blank heading ('Apply' and 'Delete'). Using the Apply button will assign any settings that are changed for this field to all instances of the object that the field is being used on. Selecting Delete will remove the field record. If the field is in use and there is data being stored within the field all this data will be lost, so be careful when using this option.
- ID: Displays the unique netTerrain system ID for the object.
- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated object type.
- Type: this is the name of the object where this field is used.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Is mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered into the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered into this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created.
- Is tree Label: determines the data value that will be displayed in the hierarchy browser. Change this if you want to see a different value displayed for an instance of this type in the hierarchy. The default is typically the name.
- List Items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.

- Overrides: click on the value to bring up a list of the overrides associated with this field and object type.
- Lock List: Allow an override list to be non-editable. If this is checked then a user cannot override the list values. They must choose a value that is already in the list.
- Is Unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is Unique (all types): Restricts all new inputs of this field for any object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this object type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance by instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance by instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance by instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).

## 2.3.2 Visual overrides for objects

Visual Overrides are in important feature in netTerrain akin to 'business rules' that change the appearance of an object when a certain attribute matches a specified value.

For example, a Power User may set up an override for a field called 'status' for an object type called 'Router', such that when the value for status is equal to 'alarmed' then the router icon turns red.

The 'Overrides' link will open a table with all overrides associated with all objects in netTerrain. Below we will review the elements comprising this list view, but in general we do recommend accessing the overrides list for a given field directly from the object itself.

Value Li:	sts and Overrides for O	bjects To cs	v Add new A					BRec	ords in table: 337 Records on page: 100
Filter	Apply	Clear	С				D	Records per page 100	Show Id Field Default sorting
#	Object Type 🔺	Field	Value	Rule	Is Override	Override	Instance effect	Parent effect	Upwards propagation E
1 [	Access Point	Status	Up	= 🗸		2	No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Propagations 🗸 Associat
2 [	Access Point	Status	Down	= 🗸		<u>a</u>	No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Propagations 🗸 Associat
з [	Access Point	Status	Unknown	= 🗸			No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Propagations 🗸 Associat
4 [	Application	Override	netTerrain	= 🗸		<b>N</b>	No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸 Associat
5 [	Application	Override	SQL server	= 🗸		SO. Sever	No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸 Associat

Visual overrides list view

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Create new: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new override.

#### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of overrides in the table.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing. The records per page default value can be set by the administrator within the admin console.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view, in the same way as the filters are used for field or object lists.

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. So, for instance if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50, simply proceed to change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

#### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. this will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Delete option (no label): selecting 'Delete' will remove the override record.
- Object type: the object with the field that is assigned the override.
- Field: the field with the list or override.
- Value: value of the list or override data. Project instances will switch to the override image when that field contains the same value displayed in the override.
- Rule: the condition that determines how a visual override is used in the project.
- Is Override: Sets the field to be an override type.
- Override: the image (or override itself) that will be used if the rule criteria is met.
- Instance effect: in addition to visual override for an object, rules can be set for additional effects that affect the object itself or the containing object (or entire ancestry) whenever the rule criteria applies. The following effects are currently available for visual overrides in netTerrain:
- No effects: this is the default, which means that no effect applies to the object instance when the rule is met.
- Blink object: the object will blink on the diagram when the override criteria is met.
- Rectangle blink: the object will display with a blinking rectangle that outlines the object.
- Red triangle indicator: the object will display with a red triangle.
- Parent effect: as mentioned above, effects can propagate to the affected instance's parent object or objects. The following options are available:
- No effects: this is the default, which means that no effect applies to the parent object of the instance that matched the rule.
- Blink object: the objects parent will blink on the diagram when the override criteria are met.
- Rectangle Blink: the objects parent will display with a blinking rectangle that outlines the object.
- Red Triangle Indicator: the objects parent will display with a red triangle.
- Upwards propagation: you can not only assign effects to the object's ancestry, but you can also define (to a certain extent) how many levels you want to propagate these effects.
- No propagation: effects are only contained within the affected instance, with propagating them upwards.
- Parent only: effects will propagate to the immediate parent.
- Parent and grandparent only: the effect will propagate to the immediate parent object and its own parent.
- Top level only: the effect will be displayed for the top-level object and the instance itself.
- All levels: all objects in the ancestry will display the effect.

## 2.4 Categories



Categories are like folders, they provide an option in netTerrain to group specific objects that have certain attributes in common. Users can add top level categories or assign a new category to an existing category and create nested catalog hierarchies.

Objeo Filter	ct Cate	gories	To csv Add new	A C				B Records per page 1	Records in table: 27 Records on page: 27
#		Group	Name 🔺	Parent	lcon	IsFavorite	Instances (this category)	Instances (including subcategories)	
13	Ē	Node	Generic Computers Symbols	· ·	-		14	14	
14	Ē	Node	Generic Hardware Symbols	~			15	15	-
15	Ē	Node	Generic Networking Symbols	· ·			11	11	-
16	Ē	Node	Generic Networking Symbols 2	~			24	24	
17	Ē	Node	IT - Computers	~	<b>.</b>		0	0	
						-		A.	

#### Categories list view

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Add new: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new category.

#### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of categories in the table.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing. The records per page default value can be set by the administrator within the admin console.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view, similar to filters on other table views (see previous sections).

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

#### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Delete option (no label): selecting Delete will remove the category from the system.
- Group: displays the object type the category is associated with.
- Name: the name of the category that will be displayed as a category option.
- Parent: if the category is nested this will display the categories parent.
- · Icon: the assigned image for the category.
- IsFavorite: if checked then the category and its objects will be displayed. If turned off they will not be displayed in a favorites list.

### 2.4.1 Category views

Category views in the netTerrain catalog act like folders where you can organize your different types for easier management. Category views can also be nested, akin to subfolders inside folders.

Category views can be accessed from any of the group options. So, for example if you click on the Nodes group from the netTerrain Catalog front page, a 'Switch to category view' will be displayed next to the group label, as shown below:

Object	t Types [Swite	ch to ca	tegory vie	w] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json								Records in table: 15388	Records on page: 100
ilter		(	Apply	Clear								Records per	page 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
#			Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Imag	e	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height
1	ŌŌ	₫	Node	_AWS_Instances	~			17	0	0			0.5	0.5
2	ŌŌ	₫	Node	_SNMP_External_IPs	~	<b>⊗</b>		3	0	0			0.5	0.5
3	ŌŌ	₫	Node	_SNMP_External_MACs	~	•		3	0	0			0.5	0.5
4	[]		Slot	<empty slot=""></empty>				2	0	10576			0.7	0.3

Switching to category view from the Node Types group

filter			Apply Clear									Records per page 100	how Id Field	Default sorting
0	*	Туре 🔺	Name	lcon	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Children	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Default Width [in]	Default Height [in]	Keep As	pect Ratio
	12	Category	Basic	٨			0							
	13	Category	IT - Software				0							
	14	Category	Networking - Symbols				0							
	15	Category	IT - Computers	-			0							
	16	Category	AWS				12							
	17	Category	Core_Nodes				7							
	18	Node	_AWS_Instances	=				17	0	0	0.5	0.5		
	19	Node	_SNMP_External_IPs	8				3	0	0	0.5	0.5		
	20	Node	_SNMP_External_MACs	•1•				3	0	0	0.5	0.5		
_					_	-					0.5	0.5		

In the category view you will see your category names and any objects not assigned any category.

#### Category View

In order for a category to be listed it has to contain at least one object type.

The category columns resemble the regular table view columns, except for the children count, which provides a count of all the children objects. This also acts as a hyperlink to the list of all those children objects. Also, the 'is favorite' column can be used for categories to enable or disable them from the favorites sub menu in the project

Categ	Jory /	∕iew ( <mark>Obj</mark> e	ect Types Nodes: AWS) [ Si	witch to table vi	ew]	Add New C	ategory A	Add New Typ	be				Records i	n table: 13 Records	on page: 1
Filter			Apply Clear										Records per page 100 Sho	ow Id Field Default	sorting
0	*	Туре 🔺	Name	lcon		Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Children	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Default Width [in]	Default Height [in]	Keep Aspect Ratio	
	1	Category	AWS-2					0							
	2	Node	AWS_ElasticIP	$\hookrightarrow$					11	0	1	0.5	0.5		
	3	Node	AWS_Image	~					24	0	0	0.5	0.5		
	4	Node	AWS_Instance	Ð					48	2	5	0.5	0.5		
	5	Node	AWS_InternetGateway	0					5	0	16	0.5	0.5		
	6	Node	AWS_NATGateway	<b>(</b>					10	0	1	0.5	0.5		
	7	Node	AWS_NetworkAcl	÷					8	0	16	0.5	0.5		
	8	Node	AWS_NetworkInterface						21	0	20	0.5	0.5		
	9	Node	AWS_SecurityGroup	0					9	0	27	0.5	0.5		
				=	_								-		

Viewing the contents of a category

## 2.4.1.1 Bulk operations with categories

Notice that category views include checkboxes on the left side. These checkboxes let you select one or more categories or objects and perform some bulk operations from the toolbar at the top of the page. The options in the toolbar are as follows:

- Cut: The cut option would allow you to cut and paste the objects from this category to another category. Just press the cut icon and then switch to a different category table view. Then you can paste the objects into the other category. This is very useful for moving a large selection of objects that are incorrectly categorized or objects that have not been categorized at all.
- Paste: Used in conjunction with the cut option.
- · Clone: Allows you to clone multiple selected objects at one time.
- Delete: Allows you to delete one or more objects at once. This will delete the object(s) from the catalog. There is no undo option for this!

Category View (Object Types: Nodes: AWS [ Switch to table view] Records in table: 13 Records on page: 13 Add New Category Add New Type Filter Apply Clear Records per page 100 Show Id Field Default sorting 0 # Туре 🔺 Default Height [in] Name Default Width [in] Keep Aspect Ratio 1 Category AWS-2 ~ 2 Node AWS\_ElasticIP  $\cap$  $\rightarrow$ 0.5 0.5 3 Node AWS\_Image ~ 0.5 0.5 AWS\_Instance 48 0.5 0.5 □ 4 Node 5 Node AWS\_InternetGateway 0.5 0.5 0 6 Node AWS\_NATGate 10 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0 7 AWS\_NetworkAcl **~** Node 0.5 0.5 8 Node AWS\_NetworkInterface O 9 Node AWS\_SecurityGroup 0.5 0.5

To switch back to table view, simply click on the 'Switch to table view' option at the top.

Switching back to table view

## **2.5 Vendors list**

Vend	ors To	csv Add new A		
Filter		Apply Clear	С	
*		Name 🔺	catalog objects	
1	Ē	3Com	341	
2	Ē	8e6	1	
3	Ē	A10 Networks	45	
4	Ē	Accedian	3	E
5	Ē	Accton	1	
6	Ē	Ace North	0	
7	Ē	Acer	0	

The 'Vendors' option in netTerrain is really just a lookup table to add vendors to the list and then assign a vendor to a device, card or rack type in the catalog.

Vend Filter	ors To c	Add new A	С	
"		Name 🔺	catalog objects	
1	Ē	3Com	341	
2	Ē	8e6	1	
3	Ē	A10 Networks	45	
4	Ē	Accedian	3	E
5	Ē	Accton	1	
6	Ē	Ace North	0	
7	Ē	Acer	0	

#### Vendors list view

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Add new: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new vendor.

#### Section B

- ${\boldsymbol \cdot}$  Records in table: displays the total number of vendors in the table.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing.

### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view, similar to filters on other table views (see previous sections).

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. So, for instance if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50, simply proceed to change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to the record in netTerrain.
- Default sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

#### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Delete option (no label): selecting 'Delete' will remove the vendor from the system.
- Name: the name of the vendor that will be displayed as a vendor option.
- Catalog objects: contains the number of objects that have been assigned this vendor.

## **3 Node types**



#### Video tutorial

Generic nodes (or simply nodes) are used for a variety of purposes, such as modeling location data, logical representations of networking gear, or even a chair. They have fairly basic capabilities when compared to their cousins, the smart objects, which we will review later.

Nodes are simply modeled as objects that have an image, a set of fields, and visual overrides. Even so, you can create some amazing documentation with these modest nodes. Later we will review how to add new types in the system.

### 3.1 Nodes vs smart objects

A node is a very unassuming yet flexible object in netTerrain: it can represent anything from a building to transportation equipment, a data center object, location or even a chair or person. Nodes can, of course, be connected with other nodes or to a smart object. Yet nodes are rather modest compared to their cousins,

the smart objects. Nodes, as opposed to smart objects are not aware of subcomponents they may contain, their physical dimensions, let alone more sophisticated properties like weight or power usage.

If you are a user of netTerrain DCIM you probably want to use smart objects in case you need to document entities like routers, switches, cards or cabinets, so that you can take advantage of some of the business rules and automation that netTerrain offers. These business rules and features include:

For devices and cards:

- An extensive predefined library of makes and models
- Automatic creation of subcomponents (ports and slot)
- Automatic creation of a background image
- Awareness of physical size and weight
- Easy "snap in" for rack mounting
- Awareness of power consumption
- Ability to receive automatic alarms from the Integration Toolkit (ITK)
- More comprehensive modeling capabilities such as reference node location
- · Ability to restrict which card types can be positioned under which slot
- Pre-defined reports in the dashboard

For racks:

- Awareness of rack unit occupancy
- Automatic creation of a background image
- Smart aggregation of dependent devices for rack occupancy, power and weight consumption
- Pre-defined visual overrides on floor plans for rack occupancy, power and weight thresholds
- Pre-defined reports in the dashboard

Generic nodes (or simply nodes) have none of these capabilities. They are simply modeled as objects that have an image, a set of fields, and visual overrides.

## 3.1.1 Can I use nodes to represent devices?

None of the features for smart devices described above prevents a user from utilizing generic nodes to represent devices. In those cases, netTerrain really doesn't see a difference between your "nodes as devices" and any other node. You can certainly create a node type that looks like a router and later connect it to another instance of a generic node type that looks like a switch. The caveat is that netTerrain will treat these objects as any other generic node. What this means, is that if you want to document the ports of a router or

switch, you will need to create them manually, and if you want to rack mount it, you will have to resize it and fit it inside a rack diagram manually.

Generic nodes must be used in place of smart devices in netTerrain Logical, since this product does not have smart devices as a feature. Otherwise, we only recommend using generic nodes in place of smart devices if you have little use for tracking things like physical rack locations, devices subcomponents, port occupancy, power and weight consumption, etc.

## 3.2 Managing Node types

The Node Type list, field list and visual overrides list is almost identical to the object lists reviewed earlier in this guide.

Node	Types [ <mark>Switc</mark> h	to cate	egory viev	w] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json	Α						В	Records in table: 175	Records on page: 100
Filter			Apply	Clear C							D	Records per p	age 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
#			Group	Name 🔺	Category		Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	ls Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height
1	Ū Ō	₫	Node	_AWS_Instances	~			 17	0	0			0.5	0.5
2	0	₫	Node	_SNMP_External_IPs	~		8	 3	0	0			0.5	0.5
3	0	₫	Node	_SNMP_External_MACs	~		•••	 3	0	0			0.5	0.5
4		₫	Node	5500	Generic Networking Symbols 2 🗸		*	 10	0	6			0.5	0.5
5		₫	Node	7500 Series	Generic Networking Symbols 2 🗸		22	 11	0	10			0.5	0.5
6	0	₫	Node	Access Point	Generic Networking Symbols 🗸 🗸		<u> </u>	 10	0	0	2		0.5	0.5
7	Ū ū	₫	Node	Access Server	Generic Networking Symbols 2 🗸		<u>t</u>	 10	0	0			0.5	0.5
0	C ē	rħ	Nodo	Accounting	Other		0	 6	0	0		102	0.5	0.5

Below you can explore the main sections of the Node Types view.

#### Node Types list view

The elements that comprise this view include:

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button allows you to export the table view to a downloadable CSV file.
- Add new: selecting this will display a form to create a new object.
- Import: Allows you to import a netTerrain device package.

#### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of objects in the table. For example, if this is the nodes view then this will display the total number of nodes in the catalog.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing.

#### Section C

Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view. If you would only like to display the objects related to "Cisco" in their name, then type "Cisco" into the filter box and press the 'Apply' button. You can change the filter by simply typing in a different string and pressing the 'Apply' button. If you no longer need the filter, press the 'Clear' button to remove the filter.

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can change the records per page value to a value that is less than the default value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to each record in netTerrain.
- Default Sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value, press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name". Changing the default sorting is temporary. The default is restored once you navigate away from the table view.

#### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Options (no label): the 'Delete' option allows you to delete an object. Note that you can only delete an object if it is not being used in netTerrain. If it is being used, you would need to remove all instances of the object before you can delete the object.
- Clone: this button, as the name says, allows you to clone the type. In essence it creates an exact replica with the type in the catalog, which you can then edit, rename, etc.
- Delete: quite self-explanatory. Careful with the deletions! This action cannot be undone. Also, you cannot delete a node type of instances of that type exist in the project.
- Group: every object type is associated with a certain internal group in netTerrain. The assigned group will be one of the following: node, rack, device, or card. Groups are fixed in netTerrain and cannot be edited, and new groups cannot be added.
- Name: the object's name, which can be changed by editing the text field.
- Category: allows the user to assign a category to the node type.
- Default image: the image that will be displayed for any new instances of the object. If there are visual overrides, these will override the default image when the visual override is triggered (more on that later).
- Fields: this link shows the number of fields associated with the object and provides a link to access the fields table (more on this later).
- Overrides: overrides are rules associated with one or more fields for that type. Clicking on the overrides ## will redirect you to a table with all assigned overrides (more on that later).
- Instances: the number of instances that are active objects in the project. Clicking the number will provide a table of these instances. Note that this table is also editable, which can provide a useful way for quickly changing instance data in table view.
- Is Favorite: when checked, this object will appear in the object's type menu button in the project area or in the drag and drop catalog pane.



These menu buttons will be populated with a favorites list. Favorites can be added or removed at any time. They have no impact on existing objects in a diagram.

- Is Enabled: when checked, this object will be available to users in the project area as they pick an entry from the type drop down field. Objects marked as favorite cannot be disabled. You must first uncheck the favorite option before disabling it.
- Default width: the assigned width when a new instance is created. The instance's value can be changed as needed. To change the default width value simply edit the text field. The default size of an object can also be changed when right clicking on an object in the project and choosing the 'set default size' option.
- Default height: The assigned height when a new instance is created. The instance's value can be changed as needed. To change the default height value, edit the text field. The default size of an object can also be changed when right clicking on an object in the project and choosing the 'set default size' option.
- Keep aspect ratio: when checked, the ratio between height and width of the image will remain intact when expanding or decreasing the object's image in the project area. This can also be changed on an individual basis for each instance within the setting window for the object (see User's guide).
- Template: this drop-down field assigns a default diagram template (see creating diagram templates in the user guide) to the sub diagram of any new instance of that object type. So, any time this object is used in the project (i.e. an instance of it is created) its sub diagram will have this template automatically assigned.
- Audit Trail: this link will take the user to a table consisting of a history of specific user's actions associated with the object type. Note that the audit trail can only be accessed by administrators.

## 3.2.1 Node fields

The 'Fields' link explained in section E above, opens a table with all fields associated with the node type.

Obje	ect Field	s (Type: 7500 Series)	To csv Add new	Tagging	4					вС	Records in table: 11	Records on pa	ige: 11
Filter		Apply C	Clear C					D	Records	per page 10	0 Show Id Field	Default sorti	ing
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	Ju
1	Ē	7500 field thingy		8	► □	Apply	0	0	0				c
2	Ē	Comments		7	~	Apply	0	0	0				To
3	Ē	Contract Expiration	] • [	4	~	Apply	0	0	0				Tc
4	Ē	Cost		3	~	Apply	0	0	0				To
5	Ē	Department		2	•	Apply	0	0	0				To
6	Ē	Description		6	•	Apply	0	0	0				Tc

Field list view for a node type

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Create new: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new field for the type. We'll review the process of adding node fields later.
- Tagging: the tagging button opens a tagging selection dialog, allowing you to assign a set of fields to a "Tag" (a label). All existing tags appear in the settings tab for a diagram in the netTerrain project. Fields associated with a tag label can be turned on and off within a diagram. For example, you could assign a field like IP Address to a "Hide IP" tag. If you happen to be on a diagram that has objects containing that field, you could then turn on or off all IP Address fields without having to individually uncheck them from the properties window for each instance.

#### Section B

- Records in table: Displays the total number of fields in the table.
- Records on page: Displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing. The records per page default value can be set by the administrator within the admin console.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view. If you would only like to display the fields called IP Address, then you simply type in the search criteria into the filter box and press the 'Apply' button. You can change the filter by simply typing in new criteria and pressing the 'Apply' button. If you no longer need the filter press the 'Clear' button to remove the filter.

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. So, for instance if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50, simply proceed to change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Delete: this is quite self-explanatory: pressing it will remove the field record. If the field is in use and there is data being stored within the field all this data will be lost, so be careful when using this option.
- ID: Displays the unique netTerrain system ID for the object. If you don't see this field, simply press the Show Id Field button.
- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated object type.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Is mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered into the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered into this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created. The apply button next to the field lets you apply the default value for that field to all instances of that type in the project.
- Is tree Label: determines the data value that will be displayed in the hierarchy browser. Change this if you want to see a different value displayed for an instance of this type in the hierarchy. The default is typically the name.
- List Items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.
- Overrides: click on the value to bring up a list of the overrides associated with this field and object type.
- Lock List: Allow an override list to be non-editable. If this is checked then a user cannot override the list values. They must choose a value that is already in the list.
- Is Unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is Unique (all types): Restricts all new inputs of this field for any object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this object type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance by instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance by instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance by instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).

• Apply Font settings link: applies any font settings for this field to all instances of the object where the field is displayed.

## 3.2.2 Visual overrides and list items for nodes

When clicking on the override number for a given node type field, one can access the visual overrides list for that field, as shown below.

er	Apply	Clear						Records n	er nage 100	Show Id Field	Default sorting
	Name	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides -	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed
Ē	Override		0	•	Apply	0	7	7			
Ē	License Key		7	•	Apply	0	0	0			
Ē	PID		12	•	Apply	0	0	0			
Ē	Serial #		5	•	Apply	0	0	0			
Ē	Short Description		14	•	Apply	0	0	0			
_	Туре		-2		Apply						

Visual override and list item link for node field

This list is similar in structure to the one already seen in the object overrides section earlier:

Value List	s and Override	s for Obje	cts (Field: Override)	To csv Add n	ew A					В	Records in t	able: 7 Records on page: 7
Filter		Apply	Clear C				E		D	Records per page	100 Show Id	Field Default sorting
*	Object Type 🔺	Field	Value	Rule	Is Override	Override		Instance effect	Parent effect	Upward	propagation	Event Type
1 🔟	Application	Override	Collector	= 🗸		Ø		No Effects 🗸	No Effects	✓ No Pro	pagations 🗸	Associate New Event Type
2 🛄	Application	Override	MSP360 Backup	= 🗸		MSP360		No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects	✓ No Pro	pagations 🗸	Associate New Event Type
з 🔟	Application	Override	netTerrain	= 🗸		Ň		No Effects 🗸	No Effects	✓ No Pro	pagations 🗸	Associate New Event Type
4 🔟	Application	Override	netTerrain EM	= 🗸		Ň		No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects	✓ No Pro	pagations 🗸	Associate New Event Type
5 🔟	Application	Override	netTerrain_Logo	= 🗸				No Effects 🗸	No Effects	✓ No Pro	pagations 🗸	Associate New Event Type
6 🛄	Application	Override	ServiceNow	= 🗸		servicenow		No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects	✓ No Pro	pagations 🗸	Associate New Event Type
7 🛄	Application	Override	SQL server	= 🗸		SQL Server		No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects	✓ No Pro	pagations 🗸	Associate New Event Type
1 out of 1	< > 1	Go										

Overrides list view for node fields

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Create new: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new override. We'll review the process of creating a visual override for a node type field later.

#### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of overrides in the table.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing. The records per page default value can be set by the administrator within the admin console.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view, in the same way as the filters are used for field or object lists.

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. So, for instance if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50, simply proceed to change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

#### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. this will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Delete option (no label): selecting 'Delete' will remove the override record.
- Field: the field with the list or override.
- Value: value of the list or override data. Project instances will switch to the override image when that field contains the same value displayed in the override.
- Rule: the condition that determines how a visual override is used in the project.
- Is Override: Sets the field to be an override type.
- Override: the image (or override itself) that will be used if the rule criteria is met.
- Instance effect: in addition to visual override for an object, rules can be set for additional effects that affect the object itself or the containing object (or entire ancestry) whenever the rule criteria apply. The following effects are currently available for visual overrides in netTerrain:
- No effects: this is the default, which means that no effect applies to the object instance when the rule is met.
- Blink object: the object will blink on the diagram when the override criteria is met.
- Rectangle blink: the object will display with a blinking rectangle that outlines the object.
- Red triangle indicator: the object will display with a red triangle.
- Parent effect: as mentioned above, effects can propagate to the affected instance's parent object or objects. The following options are available:
- No effects: this is the default, which means that no effect applies to the parent object of the instance that matched the rule.
- Blink object: the objects parent will blink on the diagram when the override criteria are met.
- Rectangle Blink: the objects parent will display with a blinking rectangle that outlines the object.
- Red Triangle Indicator: the objects parent will display with a red triangle.
- Upwards propagation: you can not only assign effects to the object's ancestry, but you can also define (to a certain extent) how many levels you want to propagate these effects.
- No propagation: effects are only contained within the affected instance, with propagating them upwards.
- Parent only: effects will propagate to the immediate parent.
- Parent and grandparent only: the effect will propagate to the immediate parent object and its own parent.
- Top level only: the effect will be displayed for the top-level object and the instance itself.
- All levels: all objects in the ancestry will display the effect.

## 3.3 Creating node types

As you start building up your netTerrain project you will probably want to create new node types that represent specific entities that are important to your project.

To add a new node, go to the catalog and look for the 'Add New' button next to the Nodes group. You can also click on the ## value next to the 'Nodes'. This will list all existing nodes. Then you can click the 'Create New' button afterwards.

Groups			
Nodes	175		Add New
Line Nodes	0		Add New
Racks	198	Default Custom Fields	Add New
Devices	9293	Default Custom Fields	Add New
Cards	5724	Default Custom Fields	Add New
Port Object			

#### Object groups section

Pressing the add button will bring up a pop-up dialog box that can be used to create a new node type in the catalog, as depicted below.
Add Node Type	, X
Name:	
Group:	Node •
Category:	<b>*</b>
Image:	Choose an image
Favorite:	true 🔻
Enabled:	true 🔻
Default Width [in]:	0.5
Default Height [in]	0.5
	Submit Cancel

Let's review each field:

- Name: type in the name of the new node type. This name must be unique and cannot exceed 255 characters.
- Category: Assigns the node type to a category.
- Image: this is a mandatory step when creating a node. The supported image types include PNG, JPEG, GIF, and SVG. The image that is uploaded will be the image that will be displayed when the node is used in a diagram, unless overridden by a visual override. You will also see a thumbnail of the image in certain catalog list views. The image will be uploaded and stored on the netTerrain application server.
- Favorite: set the value as true if you would like the new node to show up in the favorites list in the project. Favorites are filtered from the rest of the types on the project side when clicking on the 'Node' button in the insert menu or checking the 'fav' option in the floating catalog.
- Enabled: if you would like the node type to show up in the type drop down box list when you work with node instances then it needs to be enabled. This list is displayed when you click on an existing node that has been added to a diagram. Disabled nodes are automatically removed from the favorites list.
- Default Width: the default width of new nodes of this type when added to a diagram. Units are in inches.
- Default Height: the default height of new nodes of this type when added to a diagram. Units are in inches.

After the node has been created the node type list will be displayed, filtered by the newly created node type Id.

# 3.3.1 Adding a node type by dragging and dropping

There is a nice trick to add a node type into the catalog quickly: by dragging and dropping an image from a folder or browser! This must be done from the project side, from any diagram.

The best way to use this trick is to have both the netTerrain browser and the folder or website with the image side-by-side. Then, just drag and drop the desired image to the netTerrain diagram, as shown below:



Create a node type by dragging and dropping an image

After you dropped the image on the diagram, netTerrain gives you the option to create it as a floating image, a node type, a device type, or a rack type. Choose the 'Node' option:

Choose Obje	ct Type		х
Add Picture	Add Node	Add Rack	Add Device
			Cancel

Choosing the '\_\_Node\_\_' option to create a node type

This completes the process. It is up to you to access the catalog for that type and then add any custom properties or behaviors afterwards, but as a quick hack to add an item to the catalog this isn't too bad!

Ch	oose Objec	ct Type		х
	Add Picture	Add Node	Add Rack	Add Device
				Cancel

# 3.3.2 Creating custom fields for nodes

Once a node type has been created, it contains three mandatory fields that exist for every instance of a node type in the project:

- Id: a 14-digit system-generated number (not visible on the field list view)
- Name: the field that will store the name of each instance
- Type: the field that stores the type of node

In addition, you may want to create additional custom fields that represent other properties of the node instances. To create a custom property for a node type, go to the node types list and follow these steps:

• Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of fields (2, when there are no custom fields)

Node	Types [ <mark>Switc</mark> ł	n to cate	egory viev	W] To csv Add new	Import Zip Import Json								Records in table: 175	Records on page: 100
Filter			Apply	Clear							F	Records per pag	e 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
#			Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Im	age	Fields	Cverrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Heig
1	Ē	₫	Node	_AWS_Instances	~			17	0	0			0.5	0.5
2	6	₫	Node	_SNMP_External_IPs	~	8		3	0	0			0.5	0.5
3	0	₫	Node	_SNMP_External_MACs	~	•1•		3	0	0			0.5	0.5
4		₫	Node	5500	Generic Networking Symbols 2 🗸	*		10	0	6			0.5	0.5
5		₫	Node	7500 Series	Generic Networking Symbols 2 🗸	22		11	0	10			0.5	0.5
6	ŌŌ	₫	Node	Access Point	Generic Networking Symbols 🗸	2		10	0	0		2	0.5	0.5
7	Ū Ū	₫	Node	Access Server	Generic Networking Symbols 2 🗸	Ът.		10	0	0			0.5	0.5
8	0	₫	Node	Accounting	Other 🗸	8		6	0	0			0.5	0.5

• This will take you to the fields list for that node type. Click on the 'Add new' button

Object	t Fields	s (Type: _AWS_Instances	) To csv Add	d new							Records in table: 17	Records on pa	ige: 17
Filter		Apply	Clear						Records	per page 10	0 Show Id Field	Default sorti	ing
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandato	y Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	Ju
1	Ē	KeyName	]	13	•	Apply	0	0	0				To
2	Ē	LaunchTime		11	•	Apply	0	0	0				Tc
3	Ē	Monitoring		12	•	Apply	0	0	0				Tc
4		Name		-1		New Node Apply	۲						To
5	Ē	NetworkInterfaces	]	5	•	Apply	0	0	0				Tc
6	Ē	Platform	<b>_</b>	6	•	Apply	0	0	0				Tc
-	÷.	D-iDN	] _			A	$\sim$	•	^		_	_	Γ.

- This opens the dialog for adding a new field, where you:
- name the field
- pick a default value for your field
- pick a font size for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- set the field as mandatory during the data entry process
- set it as displayed, so that when it is filled out, that value shows up on the diagram (usually next to the node)
- pick a font color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- pick a fill color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram

Add _empty	node Field	x
Name:	User	
Default Value:	Joe	
Font size:	10	
Mandatory:	false 🔹	
Displayed:	false 🔹	
Font color:	<b>•</b>	
Fill color:	~	
		-
	Submit Cancel	

Once the field has been added you can then edit any field parameters from the fields list, as seen already in the previous section:

- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated object type.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Property order: this is self-explanatory and lets you choose the order in which the property appears in the properties window of the project when you click on an instance of that type.
- Is mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered into the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered into this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created. The apply button next to the field lets you apply the default value for that field to all instances of that type in the project.
- Is tree Label: determines the data value that will be displayed in the hierarchy browser. Change this if you want to see a different value displayed for an instance of this type in the hierarchy. The default is typically the name.
- List Items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.
- Overrides: click on the value to bring up a list of the overrides associated with this field and object type.
- Lock List: Allow an override list to be non-editable. If this is checked then a user cannot override the list values. They must choose a value that is already in the list.
- Is Unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is Unique (all types): Restricts all new inputs of this field for any object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this object type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Apply Font settings link: applies any font settings for this field to all instances of the object where the field is displayed.

Obje	ct Field	s (Type: _AWS_Instances	) To csv Add	I new Tagging								Records in table: 17	Records on pa	ıge: 17
Filter		Apply	lear							Records	per page 10	0 Show Id Field	Default sorti	ng
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order		Is Mandatory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	Jui
1	Ē	KeyName		13	~		Apply	0	0	0				Tc
2	Ē	LaunchTime		11	~		Apply	0	0	0				Tc
3	Ē	Monitoring		12	~		Apply	0	0	0				Tc
4		Name		-1			New Node Apply	۲						Тс
5	Ē	NetworkInterfaces		5	~		Apply	0	0	0				Tc
6	Ē	Platform		6	~		Арріу	0	0	0				Tc
7	Ē	PrivateDnsName		2	~		Apply	0	0	0				Tc
8	Ē	PrivatelpAddress		4	~		Apply	0	0	0				Tc
9	Ē	PublicDnsName		1	~		Apply	0	0	0				Tc
		_												

New custom field for a node type

# 3.3.2.1 Deleting a custom field

Deleting a custom field is easy: go to the fields list view for the node type and simply press the delete button on the left of the field you want to remove.

	Apply	Clear							Records	per page 10	0 Show Id Field	Default sort	ting
	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	1	s Mandatory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	
Ē	KeyName		13	~		Apply	0	0	0				[
Ē	LaunchTime		11	~		Apply	0	0	0				[
Ē	Monitoring		12	~		Apply	0	0	0				
Ē	Name		-1			New Node Apply	۲						
Ē	NetworkInterfaces		5	~		Apply	0	0	0				
Ē	Platform		6	~		Apply	0	0	0				
Ē	PrivateDnsName		2	~		Apply	0	0	0				
Ē	PrivatelpAddress		4	~		Apply	0	0	0				
÷	PublicDnsName		1	~		ápoly	0	0	0				[

Deleting a custom field

Notice that the delete button is not enabled for the Name and Type system fields.

#### Attention!

As you might expect, all the values for the field corresponding to instances of that type in the project will be deleted. As such, be careful with this operation, since it cannot be undone.

## 3.3.3 Creating list items and visual overrides for a node field

As we saw before, when clicking on the override number for a given node type field, one can access the list items and visual overrides list, as shown below.

oject F	ields (Type: _AWS_Instance	es) To csv Add	d new Tagging								Records in table: 17	Records on pa	age:
ter	Apply	Clear							Records	per page 10	0 Show Id Field	Default sort	ling
*	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	ls Mar	ndatory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	
	KeyName		13	~		Apply	0	0	0				[
	LaunchTime		11	~		Apply	0	0	0				
	Monitoring		12	~		Apply	0	0	0				
	Name	×.	-1		2	New Node Apply	۲						
	NetworkInterfaces		5	~		Apply	0	0	0				
Ū	Platform		6	~		Apply	0	0	0				
	PrivateDnsName		2	~		Apply	0	0	0				
Ū	PrivatelpAddress		4	~		Apply	0	0	0				
	PublicDnsName		1	~		Apply	0	0	0				

Visual override and list item link for a node field

To create a new list item or visual override for a node type field, go to the fields list and follow these steps:

- Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of overrides (obviously 0 when there are none)
- This will take you to the overrides list for that node type. Click on the 'Add new' button

Value Lists and	Overrides for Objects (Field: KeyName)	To cst Add new
Filter	Apply Clear	
No records f	ound	

- This opens the dialog for adding a new override, where you:
- provide the value that will trigger the override (in the case of a simple list item this is just the list item value)
- specify whether this is an override or not (if you choose false then this completes the process for adding a list item)
- choose the rule that will trigger the override (equal to, contains, greater than, less than)
- set the override image

Add Override o	or List Item	x
Value:	I	
Override:	true	,
Rule:	= •	,
Override Image:	Choose an image	
		_
	Submit Cancel	

Once the override has been added you can then edit any parameters from the overrides list, as seen in the previous chapter:

- Value
- Rule
- Is Override
- Override
- Instance effect
- Parent effect
- Upwards propagation

# 3.3.3.1 Deleting an override or list item

To delete an override or list item for a node field go to the overrides list view for the node type and field and simply press the delete button on the left of the entry you want to remove.

er			Apply Clear						Records	per page 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
		Object Type 🔺	Field	Value	Rule	Is Override	Override	Instance effect	Parent effect	Upwards propagation	Event Ty
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	ElasticIPs	= 🗸		$\rightarrow$	 No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New E
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	Instances	= 🗸		ſ <sub>Ċ</sub>	 No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New E
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	InternetGateways	- •			 No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New E
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	NATGateways	- •			 No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New E
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	NetworkAcIs	= ¥			 No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	NetworkInterfaces	= ¥			 No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New I
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	SecurityGroups	= 🗸		0	 No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New E
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	Subnets	= ¥		<b>₽</b>	 No Effects 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New I
	Ē	Container	Visual Override	Volumes				 No Effects 🗸 🗸	No Effects 🗸	No Propagations 🗸	Associate New
	÷	Contrinor					0				

Deleting an override for a field

# 4 Link types

Links in netTerrain are what the name implies: connections between nodes. netTerrain supports both direct and inter diagram links and automatically creates reference nodes as needed. Links can be created between any combination of two node objects of the following classes:

- Nodes
- Devices
- Ports
- Racks

So, it is valid to create a link between, say, a node and a port, or a rack and a device. It is also valid to create more than one link against a single object. As such, a node can serve as a termination point for multiple links. However, it is not valid to create a link between anything other than two objects. A link must always have two and only two endpoints. As opposed to other applications like netViz or Visio, netTerrain does not allow dangling links.

# 4.1 Managing link types

netTerrain's flexible list of link features is managed from the link types section in the catalog dashboard, as displayed below.

-			
Object Types	Summary		
	Link Types	62	Default Custom Fields Add New
Link Types	Categories	5	Add New
Other Objects	Fields	929	Add New
other objects	Visual Overrides	77	Add New
	Strand Fields	2	Add New
	Strand List Values	0	Add New
	Circuits Fields	1	Add New
	Circuit List Values	0	Add New

#### Link Types section

The following shortcuts are available from the link types section:

#### Summary

- Link Types: the ## of link types within the netTerrain catalog.
- Categories: shortcut to create link categories.
- Fields: the ## of fields associated with the link types in the netTerrain catalog.
- Visual overrides: the number of visual overrides that have been assigned to fields for links within the netTerrain catalog.
- Strand Fields: shortcut to open the list of custom fields configured for strands
- · Circuit Fields: shortcut to open the list of custom fields configured for circuits
- · List Values: shortcut to open the list of values for strands and circuits

The 'Add New' buttons on the right provide a quick way to create link types, fields or overrides.

## 4.1.1 Link types view

Just as with node types, this view provides a list of all the link types created in the catalog.

Link Types	To csv Add new A									В	Records in table:	63 Records on page: 63
Filter	Apply Clear	] C				E			D	Records per page	100 Show ld Fi	eld Default sorting
#	Name 🔺	Category	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Preview	Thickness	Link Style	Color	Start Arrow
1 🖸	Native_SNMP_Links	Logical 🗸	9	0	0				1	Solid 🗸	•	None 🗸
2	_Native_SNMP_Links_Layer2	Logical 🗸	6	0	0				1	Solid 🗸	•	None 🗸
3 🗅	12 Strand Fiber	OSP 🗸	2	0	16				1	Solid 🗸	*	None 🗸
4 🖸	144 Strand Fiber	OSP 🗸	2	0	2				1	Solid 🗸	•	None 🗸
₅ []	24 Strand Fiber	OSP 🗸	2	0	25				1	Solid 🗸	•	None 🗸
• 🗅	Tube 7 tube	~	2	0	0				1	Solid 🗸		None 🗸
7 🖸	72 Strand Fiber	OSP 🗸	2	0	7				1	Solid 🗸	•	None 🗸
· D	Application	~	2	0	17				1	Solid 🗸	¥	None 🗸
۰ D	AWS_ElasticIP_Instance	~	2	0	0			••	1	Solid 🗸	<b>•</b>	Plain 🗸
·~ P	<b>m</b>		•	•	•	_	-			• · · ·		Pat - 1

#### Link types list view

Let's review each part of this section:

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button allows you to export the table view to a downloadable CSV file.
- Add New: selecting this will display a form to create a new object.

#### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of objects in the table.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view. If you would only like to display the objects related to "Cisco" in their name, then type "Cisco" into the filter box and press the 'Apply' button. You can change the filter by simply typing in new criteria and pressing the 'Apply' button. If you no longer need the filter press the 'Clear' button to remove the filter.

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can change the records per page value to a value that is less than the default value. So, if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50 then change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default Sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name". Changing the default sorting is temporary. The default is restored once you navigate away from the table view.

Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Options (no label):
- Delete: the 'Delete' option allows you to delete a link. Note that you can only delete an object if it is not being used in netTerrain. If it is being used, you would need to remove all instances of the object before you can delete it.
- Clone: this button, as the name says, allows you to clone the type. It creates an exact replica with the type in the catalog, which you can then edit, rename, etc.
- ID: Unique netTerrain identifier for the object. This property can be hidden.
- Name: the object's name, which can be changed by editing the text field.
- Category: allows the user to assign a category to a link type.
- Fields: this link shows the number of fields associated with the object and provides a link to access the fields table (more on this later).
- Overrides: overrides are rules associated with one or more fields for that type. Clicking on the overrides ## will redirect you to a table with all assigned overrides (more on that later).
- Instances: the number of instances that are active objects in the project. Clicking the number will provide a table of these instances. Note that this table is also editable, which can provide a useful way for quickly changing instance data in table view.
- Is Favorite: when checked, this object will appear in the object's type menu button in the project area. These menu buttons will be populated with a favorites list. Favorites can be added or removed at any time. They have no impact on existing objects in a diagram.
- Is Enabled: when checked, this object will be available to users in the project area as they pick an entry from the type drop down field. Objects marked as favorite cannot be disabled. You must first uncheck the favorite option before disabling it.
- Preview: this is a visual indicator for the link type in its default configuration (prior to any possible visual overrides being applied).
- Thickness: the default thickness for a given link type. You can use visual overrides to allow the link thickness to be determined by the value of a field.
- Link Style: this is the appearance of a link, which can be solid, dashed, dash-dot, dash-dot, or dotted by default. Link styles can also be changed on a per instance basis using visual overrides.
- Color: the default color for a given link type. This can be changed within the diagram by using a visual override. Link colors can also be changed on a per instance basis using visual overrides.
- Start Arrow: Allows the user to select an arrow head style for the start of the arrow. Any style selection can be reviewed in the preview window.
- End Arrow: Allows the user to select an arrow head style for the end of the arrow. Any selection can be viewed in the preview window.
- Snapped to edge: Sets the link to automatically snap the end points to the edge of the object.
- Restrictions: displays the number of restrictions associated with this link type. Restrictions are a set of business rules associated with link types but note that they cannot be created for links that already have

been used in the project (otherwise the business rule may be broken). All restrictions should be setup before using the link type. The following restrictions can be applied to link types:

- Prevented: allows you to specify node types that the current link type cannot use as endpoints.
- Enforced: this is the opposite of the above, which means that users are forced to use any of the listed node types as endpoints when connecting them with the current link type. You can specify more than one object type to enforce. For example, you may want to only allow a link called "Carrier" to be connected to your buildings.
- Matching Port Connectors: Enforces end points to have matching connector values.
- Strands (only available for licensed OSP installations): this column lets a power user configure a predetermined number of strands for the link type. When an instance of this type is created in the project, 'n' number of strands will also be created for that instance.
- Mode (only available for licensed OSP installations): this column lets you specify the mode of the link, if it will be used as a cable containing strands. Modes allow users to restrict and prevent hybrid configurations of circuits during the Automatic Circuit Routing Algorithm (ACRA) process.
- Use for ACRA Patch (only available for licensed OSP installations): when this value is checked for a link type, it becomes available as a type that can be used during the patching process of a circuit. Please see the end user guide to learn more about the creation of circuits.
- Excludable from ACRA (only available for licensed OSP installations): when this value is checked, instances of that link type are excluded from any ACRA calculations.
- Audit Trail: this link will take the user to a table consisting of a history of specific user's actions associated with the object type. Note that the audit trail can only be accessed by administrators.

## 4.1.2 Link fields

Again, just like with node types, there is a list for all the fields associated with a given link type. Below we will review the elements comprising this list view.

pply Clear C Is in Propertion h	e Property Ord	r Is Mandatory	Default Value	List Items y 0 y 0 y 0	Overrides 0 0	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Show Id Field Is Displayed	Default sorting Justification Top Left V
h Is in Properties in Properti	es Property Ordi	r Is Mandatory	Default Value Appl Appl Appl Appl	List Items y 0 y 0 y 0	Overrides 0 0	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	Justification Top Left V Top Left V
h C	2 6 5	· .	Appl           Appl           Appl           Appl	y O y O y O	0 0 0				Top Left 🗸
n C	6	• ·	Аррі	y O y O	0				Top Left 🗸
	5	✓	Appl	y 0	0				
	1							U	Top Left 🗸
		✓	Appl	y O	0				Top Left 🗸
]	4	•	Appl	y O	0				Top Left 🗸
	-1		<type> Appl</type>	у					Top Left 🗸
	3	•	Appl	y O	0				Top Left 🗸
	0	~	Appl	y 0	0				Top Left 🗸
	-2		Аррі	у					Top Left 🗸
				.1     .Type> ▼ Appl       .3        .0	.1     . </td <td>1       .</td> <td>-1       -1       -Type&gt;       Apply       0       0         3       -       -       Apply       0       0       0         0       0       -       -       Apply       0       0       0         1       0       -       -       -       Apply       0       0       0         1       -2       1       -       Apply       0       0       0       0</td> <td>1       .</td> <td>1       1</td>	1       .	-1       -1       -Type>       Apply       0       0         3       -       -       Apply       0       0       0         0       0       -       -       Apply       0       0       0         1       0       -       -       -       Apply       0       0       0         1       -2       1       -       Apply       0       0       0       0	1       .	1       1

#### Link Fields list view

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Add new: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new field.
- Tagging: the tagging button opens a tagging selection dialog, allowing you to assign a set of fields to a "Tag" (a label). All existing tags appear in the settings tab for a diagram in the netTerrain project. Fields associated with a tag label can be turned on and off within a diagram. So, you could assign a field like IP Address to a "Hide IP" tag. If you happen to be on a diagram that has links containing that field, you could then turn on or off all IP Address fields without having to individually uncheck them from the properties window for each instance.

#### Section B

- Records in table: Displays the total number of fields in the table.
- Records on page: Displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing. The records per page default value can be set by the administrator within the admin console.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view. If you would only like to display the fields called IP Address, then you simply type in the search criteria into the filter box and press the 'Apply' button. You can change the filter by simply typing in new criteria and pressing the 'Apply' button. If you no longer need the filter press the 'Clear' button to remove the filter.

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. So, for instance if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50, simply proceed to change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Delete: as the label implied, clicking on this link will remove the field record for the given type. If the field is in use and there is data being stored within the field all this data will be lost so be careful when using this option.
- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated link type.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Property Order: this option lets you control the order in which properties appear in the properties window when you are selecting the object in the project.
- Is mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered into the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered into this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created. The apply button next to the field lets you apply the default value for that field to all instances of that type in the project.
- List Items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.
- Overrides: click on the value to bring up a list of the overrides associated with this field and object type.
- Lock List: Sets the list as non-editable. Users must choose from the list of values and cannot override the list with a different value.
- Is Unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is Unique (all types): Restricts all new inputs of this field for any object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this link type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Apply Font settings link: applies any font settings for this field to all instances of the object where the field is displayed.

In the case of the system required 'Name' field for links, there is a special drop down for the 'Default Value' which allows for specifying a naming convention for new link instances:

- Node A Node B
- Parent :: Node A Parent :: Node B
- Parent :: Parent :: Node A Parent :: Parent:: Node B
- Link Type :: Link Id

6 🛄	Name	-1	<type> Type&gt; Type&gt; Type&gt;</type>	Left 🗸
7 🛄	Provider	3 ~		Left 🗸
8 🛄	Tag	0 ~	<link ::="" id="" link="" type=""/>	Left 🗸

Naming convention options for Name field

## 4.1.3 Visual overrides for links

Visual Overrides for links work in a similar way as for nodes: they specify a set of 'business rules' that change the appearance of a link when a specified attribute matches a certain value.

For example, a Power User may set up an override for a field called 'status' for a link type called 'Circuit, such that when the value for status is equal to 'alarmed' then the circuit color, for example, changes to red. Overrides for links can change the thickness, color and style of individual link instances in the project.

Value	e Lists	and Overrides for I	Links To cs	w Add new	Α						В	Records in table: 77	Records on page: 77
Filter		Appl	ly Clear	С				E		D	Records per pa	ge 100 Show Id Field	Default sorting
#		Link Type 🔺	Field	Value		Rule	ls Override	Preview	Thickness	Link Style	Color	Start Arrow	End Arrow
1	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	0		- •			2	Solid V	•	Default 🗸	Default
2	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	0		> 🗸			2	Solid 🗸	•	Default 🗸	Default
3	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	10		> 🗸			2	Solid 🗸	•	Default 🗸	Default
4	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	20		> 🗸			2	Solid 🗸	•	Default 🗸	Default
5	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	30		> 🗸			2	Solid 🗸	•	Default 🗸	Default
6	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	40		> 🗸			2	Solid 🗸	-	Default 🗸	Default
7	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	50		> 🗸			2	Solid 🗸	•	Default 🗸	Default
8	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	60		> 🗸			2	Solid V	-	Default 🗸	Default
9	Ē	Building Conduit	Fill%	70		> 🗸			2	Solid 🗸	•	Default 🗸	Default
10	÷	BURNEL BURNE	#105				-					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	n / 11
10 1 ou	it of 1	< > <u>1</u> Go	P105				-			A.P.		67.1	67.1

#### Link visual overrides list view

Below we will review the elements comprising the overrides list view:

#### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Add new: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new override.

#### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of overrides in the table.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing. The records per page default value can be set by the administrator within the admin console.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view, in the same way as the filters are used for field or object lists.

#### Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. So, for instance if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50, simply proceed to change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default sorting: If you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

#### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Delete (no title): selecting Delete will remove the override record.
- Link Type: the object with the field that is assigned the override.
- Field: the field with the list or override.
- Value: value of the list or override data. Link instances will switch to the override color, thickness or style when that field contains the same value displayed in the override.
- Rule: the condition that determines how a visual override is used in the project.
- Is Override: Sets the field to allow for a visual override condition.
- Preview: shows a view of the link with assigned color, thickness and style.
- Thickness: assigned line thickness for the link.
- Link style: assigned link style for the type. Options include solid, dashed, dash-dot, dash-dot, or dotted.
- Color: assigned color for the link type.
- Start Arrow: Allows the user to select an arrowhead style for the start of the arrow. Any style selection can be reviewed in the preview window.
- End Arrow: Allows the user to select an arrowhead style for the end of the arrow. Any selection can be viewed in the preview window.

# 4.2 Creating link types

Same as with the node types, as you start building up your netTerrain project you will probably want to create new link types that represent specific connection entities that are important to your project.

To add a new link, go to the catalog and look for the 'Add New' button next to the 'Link Types' group. You can also click on the ## value next to the 'Links'. This will list all existing link types and from there you can click on the 'Add New' button and proceed.

Object Types	Summary		_	
Link Thurse	Link Types	62	Default Custom Fiel <mark>c</mark> s A	dd New
Link Types	Categories	5	A	dd New
Other Objects	Fields	929	А	dd New
	Visual Overrides	77	А	dd New
	Strand Fields	2	А	dd New
	Strand List Values	0	А	dd New
	Circuits Fields	1	A	dd New
	Circuit List Values	0	А	dd New

#### Adding a new link type

Pressing the add button will bring up a pop-up dialog box that can be used to create a new link type in the catalog, as depicted below.

# Add Link Type

Name:	
Category:	~
Favorite:	true 🗸
Enabled:	true 🗸
Thickness:	1
Link Style:	Solid 🗸
Start Arrow:	None 🗸
End Arrow:	None 🗸
Snapped To Edge:	false 🗸
Color:	<b>•</b>
Group:	Link 🗸
	Submit Cancel

Link type list view with add link type dialog box

Х

Let's review each field:

- Name: type in the name of the new link type. This name must be unique and cannot exceed 255 characters.
- Category: assigns the node type to a category.
- Favorite: set the value as true if you would like the new node to show up in the favorites list in the project. Favorites are filtered from the rest of the types on the project side when clicking on the 'Link' button in the insert menu or checking the 'fav' option in the floating catalog.
- Thickness: the default thickness for a given link type. You can use visual overrides to allow the link thickness to be determined by the value of a field.
- Link Style: this is the appearance of a link, which can be solid, dashed, dash-dot, dash-dot, or dotted by default. Link styles can also be changed on a per instance basis using visual overrides.
- Start Arrow: allows the user to select an arrow head style for the start of the arrow. Any style selection can be reviewed in the preview window.
- End Arrow: allows the user to select an arrow head style for the end of the arrow. Any selection can be viewed in the preview window.
- Snapped to Edge: sets the link to automatically snap the end points to the edge of the object.
- Color: the default color for a given link type. This can be changed within the diagram by using a visual override. Link colors can also be changed on a per instance basis using visual overrides.
- Group: in this drop down you can define the link as a regular link, a cable for strands or a breakout cable (more on this later).

After the link has been created the link type list will be displayed, filtered by the newly created link type Id.

## 4.2.1 Creating custom fields for links

Once a link type has been created, it contains three mandatory fields that exist for every instance of a link type in the project:

- Id: a 14-digit system-generated number (not visible on the field list view)
- Name: the field that will store the name of each instance
- Type: the field that stores the type of link

In addition, you may want to create additional custom fields that represent other properties of the link instances. To create a custom property for a link type, go to the link types list and follow these steps:

• Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of fields (2, when there are no custom fields)

Filter		Apply Clear								
#		Name 🔺	Category	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Preview	Thicknes
1	0	_Native_SNMP_Links	Logical 🗸	9	0	0				1
2	0	_Native_SNMP_Links_Layer2	Logical 🗸	6	0	0				1
3		12 Strand Fiber	OSP 🗸	2	0	16				1
4		144 Strand Fiber	OSP 🗸	2	0	2				1
5		24 Strand Fiber	OSP 🗸	2	0	25				1
6	口前	7 tube	~	2	0	0				1
7		72 Strand Fiber	OSP 🗸	2	0	7				1
0	r m	Application		2	0	17	_			

• This will take you to the fields list for that link type. Click on the 'Add new' button

ilter		Apply	Clear						
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order		Is Mandatory	Default Value	List Items	Ove
1	Ē	ipRouteAge		5	~		Apply	0	
2	Ē	ipRoutelfIndex		0	~		Apply	0	
3	Ē	ipRouteMask		6	~		Apply	0	
4	Ē	ipRouteMetric1		1	~		Apply	0	
5	Ē	ipRouteNextHop		2	~		Apply	0	
6	Ē	ipRouteProto		4	~		Apply	0	
7	Ē	ipRouteType		3	~		Apply	0	

• This opens the dialog for adding a new field, where you:

- name the field
- pick a default value for your field
- pick a font size for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- set the field as mandatory during the data entry process
- set it as displayed, so that when it is filled out, that value shows up on the diagram (usually next to the link)
- $\boldsymbol{\cdot}$  pick a font color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- pick a fill color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram

Add 100 GE	Transport Field	x
Name:		
Default Value:		
Font size:	10 <sup>°</sup>	
Mandatory:	false •	
Displayed:	false	
Font color:	-	
Fill color:	-	
	Submit Cancel	

Once the field has been added you can then edit any field parameters from the fields list, as seen already in the previous section:

- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated link type.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Property Order: this option lets you control the order in which properties appear in the properties window when you are selecting the object in the project.
- Is mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered into the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered into this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created. The apply button next to the field lets you apply the default value for that field to all instances of that type in the project.
- List Items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.
- Overrides: click on the value to bring up a list of the overrides associated with this field and object type.
- Lock List: Sets the list as non-editable. Users must choose from the list of values and cannot override the list with a different value.
- Is Unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is Unique (all types): Restricts all new inputs of this field for any object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this link type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Apply Font settings link: applies any font settings for this field to all instances of the object where the field is displayed.

er	Apply	Clear							Reco	rds per page 100	Show Id Field	Default sorti
	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is	Mandatory	Default Value	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	Justification
	j ipRouteAge		5	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
	ipRoutelfIndex		0	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
	ipRouteMask		6	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
	ipRouteMetric1		1	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
	ipRouteNextHop		2	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
	ipRouteProto		4	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
	ipRouteType		3	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
	Name		-1			New Link Apply						Top Left 🗸
	] Туре		-2			Apply						Top Left 🗸

Custom field for a link type

# 4.2.1.1 Default custom fields for links

In many projects that utilize a variety of link types, there may be a set of common fields that apply to any type. To save yourself the effort of having to create these fields every time, for every new link type you add in the catalog, you can predefine the default custom fields that netTerrain should create automatically after adding a new link type.

Object Types	Summary		
	Link Types	63	Default Custom Fields Add New
Link Types	Categories	5	Add New
Other Objects	Fields	931	Add New
outer objecto	Visual Overrides	77	Add New
	Strand Fields	2	Add New
	Strand List Values	0	Add New
	Circuits Fields	1	Add New
	Circuit List Values	0	Add New

These default custom fields for links can be managed from the catalog dashboard:

Defining default custom fields for links

After clicking on the 'Default Custom Fields' link you are taken to a list view where you can manage these default custom fields, as shown below:

Filter	Apply C	Clear	
#	Name		
1 🛄	Bandwidth	Add to all types	Add Default Custom Field
2 🛄	Cost	Add to all types	Name:

Link type default custom fields management

Notice that when you add a new default custom field to the list, the field will be added to any new types created but will not modify the structure of custom fields for existing types.

You can, however, apply all the defined default custom fields to all existing types by pressing on the 'Add to all types' button.

Link Default Cu	stom Fields To csv To Excel Add New Add to all types
Filter	Apply Clear
#	Name
_	

Applying all default custom fields to all types

You can also apply one default custom field to all types by pressing on the "Add to all types" link next to the field, as shown below:

Link Defau	It Custom Fields To csv	To Excel Add New
Filter	Apply Cle	ear
#	Name	
1 🛄	Bandwidth	Add to all types
2 🛄	Cost	Add to all types
1 out of 1	< > <u>1</u> Go	

# 4.2.1.2 Deleting a custom field

Deleting a custom field is easy: go to the fields list view for the link type and simply press the delete button on the left of the field you want to remove.

er		Apply	Clear							Reco	rds per page 100	Show Id Field	Default sorti
		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order		Is Mandatory	Default Value	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	Justification
Ū	ני וו	ipRouteAge		5	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
Ū		ipRoutelfIndex		0	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
Ū		ipRouteMask		6	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
Ū		ipRouteMetric1		1	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
Ū		ipRouteNextHop		2	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
Ū	<u>ו</u>	ipRouteProto		4	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
Ū		ipRouteType		3	~		Apply	0	0				Top Left 🗸
Ü		Name		-1			New Link Apply						Top Left 🗸
	÷ (	Туре		-2			Apply						Top Left 🗸

Deleting a custom field

Adding one default custom field to all types

Notice that the delete button is not enabled for the Name and Type system fields.

#### Attention!

As you might expect, all the values for the field corresponding to instances of that type in the project will be deleted. As such, be careful with this operation, since it cannot be undone.

## 4.2.2 Creating list items and visual overrides for a link field

As we saw before, when clicking on the override number for a given link type field, one can access the list items and visual overrides list, as shown below.

Fifte	r	Apply	clear					
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value	List Items	Override
1	Ē	Conduit Capacity	] ☑ [	1	•	10 Apply	0	0
2	Ē	Fill percentage		0	•	\$zz_Link_Fill_Perc(Conduit,Conduit Apply	12	12
3		Name		-1		<type> Apply</type>		
4		Туре		-2	<b>V</b>	Apply		

Visual override and list item link for a link field

To create a new list item or visual override for a link type field, go to the fields list and follow these steps:

- Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of overrides (obviously 0 when there are none)
- This will take you to the overrides list for that link type. Click on the 'Add new' button

91		Apply Clea	3						Record	ds per page 100 Show Id Fie	eld Default sorting
	Link Type 🔺	Field	Value	Rule	Is Override	Preview	Thickness	Link Style	Color	Start Arrow	End Arrow
Ē	Conduit	Fill percentage	0	- •			1	Solid 🗸	-	Default 🗸	Default
Ē	Conduit	Fill percentage	0	> •			1	Solid 🗸	-	Default 🗸	Default
Ē	Conduit	Fill percentage	10	> ¥			1	Solid V	•	Default 🗸	Default
Ē	Conduit	Fill percentage	20	> •			1	Solid 🗸	*	Default 🗸	Default
Ē	Conduit	Fill percentage	30	> •			1	Solid 🗸	*	Default 🗸	Default
Ē	Conduit	Fill percentage	40	> •			1	Solid 🗸		Default 🗸	Default
Ī	Conduit	Fill percentage	50	> •			1	Solid 🗸	•	Default 🗸	Default
Ē	Conduit	Fill percentage	60	> ¥			1	Solid 🗸	*	Default 🗸	Default
Ē	Conduit	Fill percentage	70	> •			1	Solid 🗸	•	Default 🗸	Default
-	Osseduite	Fill paraantaaa	00		-					D-614	D-fik

- This opens the dialog for adding a new override. This dialog contains more options than the visual overrides for nodes:
- provide the value that will trigger the override (in the case of a simple list item this is just the list item value)
- specify whether this is an override or not (if you choose false then this completes the process for adding a list item)
- choose the rule that will trigger the override (equal to, contains, greater than, less than)
- set the link thickness, style, arrow terminations and color

Add Overrid	le or List Item X
Value:	
Override:	true 🔹
Rule:	=
Thickness:	1
Link Style:	Solid •
Start Arrow:	Default •
End Arrow:	Default •
Color:	•
	Submit Cancel

Once the override has been added you can then edit any parameters from the overrides list, as seen in the previous chapter:

- Value
- Rule
- Is Override
- Preview
- Thickness
- Link style
- Color
- Start Arrow
- End Arrow

## 4.2.2.1 Deleting an override or list item

To delete an override or list item for a link field go to the overrides list view for the link type and field and simply press the delete button on the left of the entry you want to remove.

# 4.3 Cables and strands

Fiber strands are thin glass optical lines bundled inside a bigger fiber cable. They transmit information by means of light signals with certain wavelengths. As shown later in the guide, whenWhen a user creates a cable with a strand count greater than 0, strands are created automatically when an end-user createsfor an instance of such asaid cable in the project.

In the context of netTerrain, a cable is a link that contains strands. As soon as you define a strand count greater than zero for a link type, we like to refer to that link as a cable. Cables usually exist in Outside Plant (OSP) projects since these require dethe management of strands. We'll talk about strands in the next section.

# 4.3.1 Creating a cable with strands

To create a cable with strand start by creating a regular link as described in the previous section. In the Group drop down box at the end choose the strands cable option.

and a subscription of the				Add Link Type	x
Object Types	Summary			Name:	
	Link Types	62	Default Custom Fields Add New	Category:	~
Link Types	Categories	5	Add New	Favorite:	true 🗸
Other Objects	Fields	929	Add New	Enabled:	true 🗸
,	Visual Overrides	77	Add New	Thiskness	1
	Strand Fields	2	Add New	THICKNESS.	
	Strand List Values	0	Add New	Link Style:	Solid ~
	Circuits Fields	1	Add New	Start Arrow:	None ~
	Circuit List Values	0	Add New	End Arrow:	None 🗸
				Snapped To Edge:	false 🗸
				Color:	<b>~</b>
				Group:	Strands Cable 🗸 🗸
				Mode:	Single 🗸
				StrandsQty:	24 I 🔻
					Submit Cancel

Once the strands cable option is selected, the 'Mode' and 'StrandQty' fields let you specify the number of strands you want created for every instance of this strands cable type and its mode.

Cables sometimes have a mode assigned (see Link Types View section), so that all its derived strands can inherit that mode. Once strands have been defined for that cable, any instances of that type will automatically have those strands created in the project.
# 4.3.2 Strand lists

To view the list of strands for a cable type, click on the strand count hyperlink under the strands column:

Link Types Tactor (Addraw						
Fire Republic Com						
	starios	10000	Use For ALKA Petch	Elipuosole Hom ALXA	Autor Intel	÷
	144	Mu 🗸			2	1
	144	Mut 🗸		0	1	2
3 🗋 🗎 72.0mmd Rem 0.02 V 2 0 7 g 🐘 — 1 5old V 🚾 Nova V Nova V 0 0	72	Mut 🗸			1	3
4 🖺 🖹 210medRer 000 V 2 0 2 8 8	24	Sirç 🗸		0	2	4
5 🖺 🖹 122metRer (59 ♥ 2 0 15 8 5	12	Mut 🗸			2	5
6 🖺 📋 ARG,Band Plenner 💙 2 0 0 0 5 1 2nd V 💶 Pain V Pain V 0 0	0	~		•	1	6
7 🗋 🛱 Zellangdomptotick 💙 2 0 0 0 5 — 1 5ord V 💶 Rein V Rein V 0 0	0	~			1	7
8 🖹 🖹 All (Handologich) 💙 3 0 7 0 0 - 1 201 V 💶 Pain V Pain V 0 0	0	~			2	8
0 🗋 💼 [st.]_istravitencitrate] 🗸 3 0 8	0	~			2	9
10 🛅 #81_reaccelum(28) 🗸 3 0 10 0 0 - 1 504 🗸 💶 Pain 🗸 0 0 0	0	~	0	0	2	10
11 🗈 🚊 pill_stantisesspipulat 🗸 5 0 16 0 🗉 1 504 🗸 💶 Ran 🗸 Ran 🗸 0 0	0	~			4	11
12 🗋 🗎 (AltC) Medianney, MC) 💌 2 0 1 0 0 1 Dold 💌 💶 Pain 🔍 Pain 🔍 0 0	0	~		0	1	12
1 🗋 🚔 ARG,MANANALYST 🗸 2 0 16 0 0 - 1 201 V 🗖 Sun V 0 0 0	0	~			1	13
14 🖹 😤 [ART_Menodolitation] 💙 3 0 55 0 50 - 1 201 🗸 🗖 241 🗸 0 0 0 0	0	~	0	0	2	14
15 🗋 🛍 [Julinovitarino_Lion] 🗸 2 0 22 0 8 1 5aid V 💶 Pain V 0 0 0	0	~			1	15
16 🕅 🗇 🕅 MK_Skartyfong,VFC 🔍 2 0 27 0 0 1 50H 🗸 🎞 Pan 🗸 Ran 🗸 0 0	0	<b>~</b>	0	0	1	16
17 🗋 🚊 AllQhaphat,Values 🗸 2 0 0 0 g 1 2014 V 🚾 Rein V Rein V 0 0 0	0				1	17
18 🗋 🖹 RELAMMANDUMUM 🗸 2 0 7 0 11 1 201 V 💶 Rein V Rein V 0 0 0	0			0	1	18
9 🗋 🚔 Dathwy Coulding 3 0 88 🛛 2 Dold y 🚾 Nove y Nove y 0 0 0	0		₽		2	19
	0		0		0	20
	0				0	21
	Ļ		-			22

This will open a new table view containing all the strands for that cable:

# D	Apply Clear Clear		_		
#	Name a	Strand Color	D	Mode	Properties Values
1 1	001			Multi 🗸	1
2 🛄	<u>۵02</u>	*	-	Multi 🗸	1
з 🛄	003	•	-	Multi 🗸	1
4 🛄	<u>۵04</u>	•	<b>~</b>	Multi 🗸	1
5 🛄	005	•	<b>*</b>	Multi 🗸	1
6 🛄	006	Ţ	<b>~</b>	Multi 🗸	1
7 🛄	007	•	<b>~</b>	Multi 🗸	1
8 🛄	008	<b>•</b>	<b>~</b>	Multi 🗸	1
9 🛄	009	-	<b>•</b>	Multi 🗸	1
10 🛄	010	-	•	Multi 🗸	1

Let us review the different UI elements of this view:

A) Next to the standard buttons you have already seen in other views for csv export and adding new instances, you'll find a particular button to add 'TIA strands'. This is a button that creates a set of 12 strands using the standardized TIA standard color code. B) The delete button, of course, deletes a strand from the cable type and the apply button applies any changes to all instances of the given strand C) The strand and buffer color definitions used here will be reflected in the project for ports that connect a strand and in strand lists. Users can modify the colors of strands and buffers but by default the colors will reflect the TIA standard where the buffer colors will also follow the strand color sequence for every 12 strands. The mode drop-down box lets users define the default mode for that strand, usually to prevent hybrid modes on a circuit path. D) The property values hyperlink opens the Predefined Strand Properties Values list where users can change the default value for a custom property for that strand.

Predefined Strand Properties Values (Strand: 001) To csv								
Filter		Apply	Clear					
#	Name 🔺		Properties Values					
1	Name		001					
2	OTDR Reading							
1 out	of 1 < > _1	Go						

# 4.3.3 Strand colors

For high strand counts or cables with bundles (or buffers) of 12 strands it is common to identify each strand with a color code standard adopted from the early TIA telephone standards for copper wire, as shown in the table below.

Fiber Number	Color
1	Blue
2	Orange
3	Green
4	Brown
5	Slate
б	White
7	Red
8	Black
9	Yellow
10	Violet

Fiber Number	Color
11	Rose
12	Aqua

The netTerrain catalog supports the TIA standard for the creation of strands in cables by automatically creating sets of 12 strands with the color code shown above. These colors can be overwritten on a strand-by-strand basis.

# 4.3.4 Strand fields

Just like with ports, there are no strand types in the catalog, however, a power-user can create custom fields for those strands. To do this, follow these steps:

1) First, click on the Strand Fields hyperlink located in the summary section of the catalog dashboard:

-Summary	
Link Types	55
Categories	5
Fields	291
Visual Overrides	383
Strand Fields	2
Strand List Values	4
Circuits Fields	2
Circuit List Values	2

2) Then from the Strand Properties list view click on 'Add New' to add a new custom property. This property will appear for all strands in the project and will be visible from the strand list (see End-user guide).

Strand	d Propert	ies To csv Add new		
Filter		Apply Clear		
#		Name 🔺	List Items	
1		Name	0	Add Strand Property 🚓 x
2	Ē	OTDR Reading	0	Name:
1 out	of 1 <	> <u>1</u> Go		Submit Cancel

Adding a custom strand property

Just like with node and link properties, any strand property other than the name can be configured as a list box. Once an item (or value) has been included in the list for a given property, that property will be displayed as a list box in the project. To add values to a list box property simply click on the hyperlink number under the List Items header next to the property. This will take you to the 'Strand list values' view, from where you can add a new value by clicking on the 'Add New' button:

	-	Auu Lis	a nem	X
No records found		Field	OTDD Deading	
		Value:		Ť

Adding a new value to a List Box property

### 4.3.5 Breakout cables

In netTerrain you can create cables that don't necessarily have a one-to-one termination layout, but instead use an N-to-N configuration, called breakout cables.

To create a breakout cable start by creating a regular link as described in the previous sections. In the Group drop down box at the end choose the breakout cable option.

netTerrain Catalog					
				Add Ellik Type	
Object Types	Summary			Nama	
object types				ivarne:	
Link Types	Link Types	62	Default Custom Fields Add New	Category:	~
	Categories	5	Add New	Favorite:	true 🗸
Other Objects	Fields	929	Add New	Enabled:	true 🗸
	Visual Overrides	77	Add New	Thickness:	1
	Strand Fields	2	Add New	Link Style:	Solid
	Strand List Values	0	Add New	LITIK Style.	Soliu V
	Circuits Fields	1	Add New	Start Arrow:	None 🗸
	Circuit List Values	0	Add New	End Arrow:	None 🗸
				Snapped To Edge:	false 🗸
				Color:	-
				Group:	Breakout Cable 🗸
				Breakout Left:	1  I
				Breakout Right:	1

Once the strands cable option is selected, you can choose the number of terminations on each side.

#### 4.4 Circuits

In an OSP project a circuit can be many things: a service between two points A and Z on a map, an MPLS connection going over fiber or really any logical relationship between points that uses physical resources of the network. One thing is quite consistent in fiber plant layouts though: circuits traverse from A to Z over strands that are inside cables (probably in some conduit) through several hops. And there can be thousands of them.

In past versions of netTerrain users created circuits as simple links between two nodes. This is possible to do in OSP projects as well, but not very practical. Traditional netTerrain links are not always well suited for this type of behavior. Therefore, in version 8 we have created a specific entity called circuits, perfectly optimized for fiber plant projects.

Some of the advantages of using this type of entity to represent your OSP circuits over a traditional link are the following:

- Easy mapping of circuit to strand without having to individually bundle each hop
- Smart algorithm to find the optimal path between two endpoints
- Automatic patching of circuits along its path
- Automatic reservation of resources
- · Convenient menu options to create a diverse and redundant circuit from an existing one
- Dedicated circuit views and searches
- Better performance

# 4.4.1 Circuit fields

Just like with strands, there are no circuit types in the catalog, however, a power-user can create custom fields for those circuits. To do this, follow these steps:

[	-Summary	
	Link Types	55
	Categories	5
	Fields	291
	Visual Overrides	383
	Strand Fields	2
	Strand List Values	4
	Circuits Fields	2
	Circuit List Values	2

1) First, click on the Circuit Fields hyperlink located in the summary section of the catalog dashboard:

2) From the Circuit Properties list view click on 'Add New' to add a new custom property. This property will appear for all circuits in the project and will be visible from the circuit list views. Here you can also control if a custom property appears in the creation process using the Automated Circuit Routing Algorithm (ACRA). If you want to keep a custom field out of the ACRA process, just uncheck the 'Show in ACRA' checkbox. For more information on the ACRA please see the End-user guide.

Filter		Apply Clear		
#	Name 🔺	Show in ACRA	List Items	Add Circuit Property x
1 -	Name		0	
1 out of 1	< > 1	Go		Name: Show in ACRA: true 🗸
				Submit Cancel

Adding a custom circuit property

# **5 Smart objects**

In previous chapters, we learned how to work with nods and links, which can be used for a variety of purposes. In this chapter, we focus on the more sophisticated part of netTerrain: the creation and modeling of "smart objects" typically used in Data Center Infrastructure Management projects (DCIM).

Previously we saw a brief overview of smart objects and if you are a user of netTerrain DCIM you probably want to use them to document things like routers, switches, cards or cabinets, so that you can take advantage of some of the business rules and automation that netTerrain offers. Let's review them here again:

For devices and cards:

- An extensive predefined library of makes and models
- Automatic creation of subcomponents (ports and slot)
- Automatic creation of a background image
- Awareness of physical size and weight
- Easy "snap in" for rack mounting
- Awareness of power consumption
- Ability to receive automatic alarms from the Integration Toolkit (ITK)
- More comprehensive modeling capabilities such as reference node location
- Ability to restrict which card types can be positioned under which slot
- Pre-defined reports in the dashboard

#### For racks:

- Awareness of rack unit occupancy
- Automatic creation of a background image
- Smart aggregation of dependent devices for rack occupancy, power and weight consumption
- Pre-defined visual overrides on floor plans for rack occupancy, power and weight thresholds
- Pre-defined reports in the dashboard

Generic nodes (or simply nodes) have none of these capabilities. They are simply modeled as objects that have an image, a set of fields, and visual overrides.

#### 5.1 Racks

A Rack is a "container" for smart devices. Other objects can also be placed inside the rack diagram, but without the smart rack mounting (snapping) feature and the tracking and aggregation of power, weight and rack occupancy statistics.

Note that racks can only be created and modeled in netTerrain DCIM.

# 5.1.1 Creating a rack type

You can create a new rack type in a few different ways:

- Import a Json or Zip device package
- Create the rack manually step-by-step from the catalog
- Drag and drop an image from a browser or folder and follow the rest of the process manually

In this section we will go over the import and manual creation process and later we will review the detailed manual rack modeling process.

#### 5.1.1.1 Creating a rack from a Json or Zip package

One of the beauties of maintenance is that Graphical Networks can model device, card and rack types for you. To do so, simply enter a ticket in your support portal with basic information about make and model and we will model the rack with its backplane image, size and more. We will then deliver a Zip or Json file to you, which you can then import into your catalog.

To import the file into the catalog simply go to the catalog Rack section, click on 'Import Zip' or 'Import Json' at the top, browse for your file and voila!

	ICAL DRK5								🔇 в	ack to project	•	) 🗟 🖸
Rack T	Types [Switch to	categor	y view] To csv Add	new Import Zip	Import Json							
Filter		Appl	y Clear									
#		Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Imag	je	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	is Enabled	Defaul
1	0 🖻 🦾	Rack	2 post rack 42U	~			7	0	0			0.5
2	0 🖻 🦾	Rack	38d	~			7	0	0			
3	0 🖻 ⊿	Rack	40d	~			7	0	0			
4	0 🖻 🦾	Rack	42d	~			7	0	0			
5	0 🖻 ⊿	Rack	44d	~			7	0	0			

# 5.1.1.2 Creating a rack manually

To add a new rack type, go to the catalog and look for the 'Add New' button next to the racks group. You can also click on the ## value next to the "Racks". This will list all existing Racks. Then you can click on the 'Create New' button.

Groups		
Nodes	175	Add new
Line Nodes	0	Add new
Racks	198	Default Custom Field Add new
Devices	9284	Default Custom Fields Add new
Cards	5724	Default Custom Fields Add new
Port Object		

Pressing the add button will bring up a pop-up dialog box that can be used to create a new rack type in the catalog.

Add Rack Type	x
Name:	
Group:	Rack •
Category:	<b>*</b>
Image:	Choose an image
Favorite:	true 🔻
Enabled:	true 🔻
Default Width [in]:	0.5
Default Height [in]:	0.5
	Submit Cancel

Adding a new rack type

Let's review each field:

- Name: type in the name of the new node type. This name must be unique and cannot exceed 255 characters.
- · Category: assigns the rack to a specific category..
- Image: this is a mandatory step when creating a rack. The supported image types include PNG, JPEG, GIF, and SVG. The image that is uploaded will be the image that will be displayed when the rack is used in a diagram, unless overridden by a visual override. You will also see a thumbnail of the image in certain catalog list views. The image will be uploaded and stored on the netTerrain application server. Remember, this is not the rack front or back view image you need here, this is merely the overhead image you want displayed on a floor plan, so we recommend using a simple square.
- Favorite: set the value as true if you would like the new rack type to show up in the favorites list in the project. Favorites are filtered from the rest of the types on the project side when clicking on the 'Rack' button in the insert menu or checking the 'fav' option in the floating catalog.
- Enabled: if you would like the rack type to show up in the type drop down box list when you work with rack instances then it needs to be enabled. This list is displayed when you click on an existing rack that has been added to a diagram. Disabled racks are automatically removed from the favorites list.
- Default Width: the default width of new racks of this type when added to a diagram. Units are in inches.
- Default Height: the default height of new racks of this type when added to a diagram. Units are in inches.

Important to note is that the previous sizes refer to the image of the rack node, not the physical dimensions assigned to the container sub diagram. The physical sizes are defined later in this section.

Once the rack has been added to the catalog, netTerrain shows the new type in the rack list view, as depicted below:

Rack Types [Switch to	o category vie	ew] To csv Add new	Import Zip	Import Json							Records in table: 1	Records on page: 1
/id=2600000018899	Group	Clear Name A	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Records per page 100 Default Width [in]	Show Id Field Default Height [in]	Default sorting Keep Aspect
₁ि⊡⊿⊄	Rack	_R787	~		7	0	0			0.5	0.5	
1 out of 1 < >	1 <b>Go</b>											

New rack type displayed in the rack list view

Just like we did with regular nodes, you can add custom fields, define visual overrides, assign the type to a category and so on. You can refer to the generic node type section to review each one of these operations.

### 5.1.1.3 Limiting inventory with the 'In stock' option

If you would like to use netTerrain for inventory control, the 'In Stock' option lets you limit the number of instances of a given rack type that can be added in the project.

This field is optional and if a rack type has a set 'In stock' value, then any user trying to import or drag and drop a rack of that type into the project, can only do so as long as the number of instances does not exceed said value.

To remove any existing inventory limits, simply blank out the field.

#### 5.1.1.4 Default custom fields for racks

In many projects that utilize a variety of rack types, there may be a set of common fields that apply to any type. To save yourself the effort of having to create these fields every time, for every new rack type you add in the catalog, you can predefine the default custom fields that netTerrain should create automatically after adding a new rack type.

Groups		
Nodes	175	Add new
Line Nodes	0	Add new
Racks	198	Default Custom Fields Add new
Devices	9284	Default Custom Fields Add new
Cards	5724	Default Custom Fields Add new
Port Object		

These default custom fields for racks can be managed from the catalog dashboard:

#### Defining default custom fields for racks

After clicking on the 'Default Custom Fields' link you are taken to a list view where you can manage these default custom fields, as shown below:

Rack Defau	It Custom Fields To	csv Add new Add	I to all types
#	Name		
1 🛄	Usage	Add to all types	Add Default Custom Field
2 🛄	Customers	Add to all types	Name:
1 out of 1	< > <u>1</u> Go		Submit Cancel

Rack type default custom fields management

Notice that when you add a new default custom field to the list, the field will be added to any new types created but will not modify the structure of custom fields for existing types.

You can, however, apply the defined default custom fields to all existing types by pressing on the 'Add to all types' button.

Default Custom Fields	To csv	Add ne.v	Add to all types
Apply	Clear		
Name			

#### Applying default custom fields to all types

You can also apply one default custom field to all types by pressing on the "Add to all types" link next to the field, as shown below:

Rack Defau	It Custom Fields To csv	To Excel Add New Add to
Filter	Apply Cle	ar
#	Name	
1 🛄	Height	Add to all types
2 🛄	Cost	Add to all types
3 🛄	Department	Add to all types
1 out of 1	< > 1 Go	

Adding one default custom field to all types

### 5.1.2 Rack modeling process

The rack modeling process allows you to create containers inside racks, which can then be used for rack mounting devices. Containers are placeholders for devices, and they are aware of their width and height. Proper sizing of containers will then allow netTerrain to nicely snap devices inside these placeholders and compute rack unit occupancy rates.

In addition to creating containers, the rack modeling process allows you to specify properties for the rack.

After the initial creation of the rack, you can proceed with the modeling. If you are still in the list view for the rack you created, you should see a 'Modeler' button \_\_\_\_\_\_. If you are not in the rack list view, go to the 'Catalog' and click on the rack group # count.

Properties	Settings
ld	24000000227119
Туре	Mehler 42U Depth 1 📃
Name	Mehler 42U Depth 12( 🔜 🗹
Available Units	42 🔜 🗹
Power [W]	4500
Power used [W]	0 🔳
Max Weight [lb]	2250
Weight used [lb]	0 📃 🔲
Catalog	Fields
Audit Trail	1

To get started with the modeling process, first fill in the rack properties.

Rack properties in modeler

These properties include:

- Power: maximum power that this rack type would typically supply for devices that will be rack mounted on it. This is not a mandatory field and can be modified on a per rack instance basis. As such, we could say that this value represents the default peak power supported by this rack type. Note that if the maximum power is exceeded, this will not prevent users from mounting more devices on the rack.
- Max Weight: this is the maximum weight of all rack mounted devices that this rack can handle. This is not a mandatory field and can be modified on a per rack instance basis. Note that if the maximum weight is exceeded, this will not prevent users from mounting more devices on the rack.
- Description: non-mandatory field used as a short description for this rack type
- Vendor: this field is a non-mandatory lookup value from the vendors table. If the vendor is not in the list it will need to be added before proceeding (see previous chapter).
- Display Rack Lines: allows the Rack Unit lines to be turned on or off.
- Coupled Front/Back mounting: this checkbox enables dual views for devices mounted on one side (more on this later).
- Container children: this represents the number of containers used for this rack type. Typically, there are just one or two containers used for a rack. Later, we will review the modeling process for racks and how we can use containers.
- Instances: the number of occurrences of this rack type in the project. Naturally, this value is zero if you are modeling this rack type for the first time.

Once the properties have been entered for the rack you can proceed with the actual modeling sequence. First, you need to create a background image that will serve as a guide for placing container objects on top of it. Ideally, the rack image should display rack units on the side that can serve as a reference for users rack mounting devices. To add the background image, click on the able to browse for an image on your local drive. Valid image formats include raster images with PNG, JPEG and GIF extensions and the SVG vector format image type.

GRAPHICAL Page In	nsert Edit Arrange	e Tools Help ;	È			
Left Panel Zoom - Go Up Ba	ckground Print					
Properties Set	ttings OI	bject Types APC	_Netshelter_AR3150			
Power [W]	4200					
Max Weight [lb]	2250			a.		
Description	NetShelter SX 4:				- - -	
Vendor	APC •			<b>-</b> 1	÷ 🖛	
Template	•			• 8 8	· ·	
Display Rack Lines in Project	No 🔻				-	
Coupled Front/Back mounting	No 🔻			÷ "	·	
Container Children	1				a - 9	
Instances	1					
				20 10	a ' •	
					* * *	
				<del>.</del> .	÷	
					- -	
					• •	
					• <del>•</del>	
				- 1		
				-	-	
				¥		

Rack modeling process for a front image view of a cabinet

The example image above shows a single sided cabinet view, ready to be modeled with one container object. An appropriate container would probably laid out exactly on top of the rack mountable area overlayed on top of the cabinet front view. To create the container press the container icon in the insert menu, as shown below.

Insert Edit Arra	nge Tools I	Help 📥
Settings	Object Types	APC_Netshelter_AR3150
4200		
2250		
NetShelter SX 42		
APC 🔻		
•		
ct No 🔻		
ing No 🔻		
	Insert Edit Arra   Settings	Insert       Edit       Arrange       Tools         Settings        Object Types         4200           2250           NetShelter SX 42           APC           No           1           1

Adding a container in the rack modeler view

Containers appear as light blue squares on the top left corner of the image. After the container is created, simply move and resize it to the desired position on top of the background image.

Now that the container is nicely placed, you want to fill out the container properties, by clicking on it and typing in the right values on the properties window:

- Name: The name of the container that you are creating.
- Rack Units: the number of rack units that will be available for this container. This should be a whole number. For example, choose 44 if that is the number rack units for the container. Technically, you can choose any number of rack units for containers, even if it does not match the number of units for the cabinet. In reality, you will probably always choose containers to fill out the whole rack mountable area, in which case the rack units for the container will match the rack units for the rack.
- Width: the width is defined in inches (usually 19, 21 or 23 for most racks).
- Height: the height is also expressed in inches. Since the height and the number of rack units are independent parameters, in theory this allows for non standard rack unit sizes, but in the vast majority of cases the height is simply the number of rack units multiplied by 1.75 inches. So for example a 44U rack will have a height of 77 inches. For precise rack mounting, the height should always be expressed exactly as the number of rack units multiplied by the 1.75 inches, so do not round this number up or down. For example, a 45U rack should have a height of 78.75 inches.

You are done! The rack is now ready to be used in the project and will inherit all the attributes of the type. This means that as soon as you add an instance of this rack type in the project, you will see the available rack units, power and weight automatically added to the rack instance attributes. Double clicking on the rack instance will reveal the background image used and as you start rack mounting devices on it, you will see how they snap in nicely on the rack mountable area. Used rack units will be aggregated automatically and the total power and weight will also be calculated automatically for rack statistics and visual override filters at the rack floor plan level.

# 5.1.3 Dual view racks (front and back)

Since netTerrain allows more than one container per rack model, you can easily model the front and back view of racks by simply creating two containers during the modeling process and assigning the proper attributes to each.

	Insert Edit An	range Tools Help 🚖			
Add Container					
Properties	Settings	Object Types 38d			
Power [W]	1000				
Max Weight [lb]	2000				
Description	38 Ru cabinet (d				
Vendor	Longshine •				
Template					
Display Rack Lines in Project	No 🔻			38 37	
Coupled Front/Back mounting	J Yes ▼	8		36	
Container Children	No	23		33	
Instances		21		31	
		29		29	
		27 28		27	
		25		25 5	
		22		22	
		20		21 20	
		10		19 0	
		16		18	
		14		14	
		12		12	
		10		10	
		8		8 0	
		6		6	
		4		3	
			N HIT	2 -	

Dual view rack modeling

When creating rack models with front and back views keep the following in mind:

- If possible, choose a background image that shows the rack frames for both views (like the image above).
- Use the same parameters for both containers (rack units, height and width).
- Take advantage of the arrange and resize buttons to ensure that both containers are of the same size.

The purpose of modeling racks with dual views is to be able to show and mount devices on both sides. To add some sizzle to your DCIM project we provide two ways to model a dual rack in netTerrain: the "old" way (ordinary dual racks) and the "new" way, which is by coupling the front and the back.

In ordinary dual racks, all rack units are available on both sides, which means that the number of rack units available when the rack is empty, is the rack unit height times two. As we will see below, you can also design a rack to only allow rack units to be available on either the front or the back so that when you mount a device on one side, the same rack units become unavailable on the other. The latter is the more common usage in Data Center Infrastructure Management, since it better represents how Data Center managers utilize racks.

#### 5.1.3.1 Coupled Front / Back mounting on dual racks

Once you finished modeling the dual view rack you have the choice of having netTerrain display all the devices that you rack mount on one side, on the other side as well. This is called 'Coupled Front/Back mounting' (CFBM). CFBM comes in handy when you want to make sure that mounting devices on one side automatically prevents users from mounting devices that utilize any of those same rack units on the other side.

With CFBM when you rack mount a device on the front, netTerrain will show a faint image of the device on the back and vice versa. That way, users already see from a graphical standpoint that those units are unavailable on either side of the rack. The image below shows a dual rack with CFBM enabled, with two devices mounted on the front and a patch panel on the back.



A dual rack with CFBM enabled

To enable CFBM on a rack, simply select 'yes' on the 'Coupled Front/back mounting' option in the modeler during the rack creation process. You can check that option later, even after the rack was created, however the drop down will be disabled if any instances of the rack already exist in the project. This is to prevent possible inconsistencies in the rack allocation computations, which brings us to the following rules to consider for CFBM:

- CFBM only works for racks that have two containers.
- Both rack containers must be of the same size and number of rack units.
- To enable the CFBM feature on a rack type, no instances of the rack can exist in the project.
- Rack unit availability is not doubled. A 45U dual rack with CFBM enabled will still have only 45 RUs available.

### 5.1.4 Adding a rack type by dragging and dropping

There is a nice trick to add a rack type into the catalog quickly: by dragging and dropping an image from a folder or browser! This must be done from the project side, from any diagram.

The best way to use this trick is to have both the netTerrain browser and the folder or website with the image side-by-side. Then, just drag and drop the desired image to the netTerrain diagram, as shown below:



Create a rack type by dragging and dropping an image

After you dropped the image on the diagram, netTerrain gives you the option to create it as a floating image, a node type, a device type, or a rack type. Choose the 'Rack' option:



Choosing the Rack option to create a node type

This completes the modeling process. From here on all that is left is to add custom fields you your rack type.

# 5.1.5 Special rack fields

Just like with nodes and links, once a rack type has been created, it contains three mandatory fields that exist for every instance of a rack type in the project:

- Id: a 14-digit system-generated number (not visible on the field list view)
- Name: the field that will store the name of each instance
- Type: the field that stores the type of rack

Rack types also contain several special fields: non-editable aggregate values used in conjunction with environmental properties that a user can edit on a per instance basis. These special rack properties are the following:

- Available Units (aggregated): this is the number of rack units that are still available for the rack
- Power [W] (inherited from type editable): this is the predefined static power value assigned in the rack modeler. The existence of this property does not prevent you from creating other power figures as custom properties.
- Power Used [W] (aggregated): this is the sum of all nameplate power figures for devices rack mounted on that rack. These device nameplate power figures are also created during the device modeling process and are static numbers. netTerrain can also aggregate other power figures into custom fields. For example, dynamic power values could be discovered and automatically populated into a device custom field, and later aggregated as an expression in a rack custom field.
- Max Weight [lb.] (inherited from type editable): this is the predefined static weight capacity value assigned in the rack modeler. The existence of this property does not prevent you from creating other custom properties related with weight.
- Weight Used [lb.] (aggregated): the sum of the device weight rack mounted on that rack. The device weight values are also created during the device modeling process.

In the project these properties manifest themselves as blue system fields, as depicted below:

Properties	Settings	
ld	24000000217014	
Туре	Siemon V61A-2AB1	
Name	R101A	
Available Units	2	 •
Power [W]	0	
Power used [W]	14521	 <b>V</b>
Max Weight [lb]	279	
Weight used [lb]	605.626	 •
Catalog		
Audit Trail		

#### Rack special fields (in blue)

In sum, all rack types contain at least seven system fields. Below is the list of all system fields that exist for a new rack type that was just created in the catalog:

er	Apply	Clear							Records	s per page 1	00 Show Id Field	Default sort	ting
	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value		Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	Ju
Ī	Available Units		0		42	Apply	0	0	0				То
- 	Max Weight [lb]		3		0	Apply	0	0	0				То
- 	Name		-1		<type></type>	<ul> <li>Apply</li> </ul>	۲						То
	Power [W]		1		0	Apply	0	0	0				То
- 	Power used [W]		2		0	Apply	0	0	0				Т
-	Туре		-2			Apply							Тс
	Weight used [lb]		4		0	Apply	0	0	0				Т

Minimum set of fields (system fields) for racks

Besides the name, which you can edit using one of the default value auto naming functions, notice the two editable environmental fields, which you can edit:

- Max weight
- Power [W]

As mentioned previously, these two fields are inherited by every instance of the rack type and can be edited (or overridden) in the project on an instance-by-instance basis.

### 5.1.6 Custom rack fields

Just like with nodes and links, and in addition to modeling your rack types according to your specifications, you may want to create custom fields that represent other properties of the rack instances. To create a custom property for a rack type, go to the rack types list and follow these steps:

ack <sup>-</sup> Iter	Types (Switch to cate	egory viev Apply	N]   To csv   Add new     Clear	Import Zip Imp	ort Json						
#		Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	is Enabled	
1	©፹⊿₫	Rack	2 post rack 42U	~		7	0	0			
2	©፹⊿₫	Rack	38d	~		] 7	0	0			[
3	©፹⊿₫	Rack	40d	~		] 7	0	0			
4	▯ݰ⊿ݨ	Rack	42d	~		] 7	0	0			
5	Ē 🗑 🏄 Ō	Rack	44d	~		] 7	0	1			
6	©፹⊿₫	Rack	47U Rack	~		] 7	0	0			
7	©፹⊿₫	Rack	AMC0 R-TN-42U24-42	~		] 7	0	0			
8	©፹⊿₫	Rack	APC 48U 60x105	~		7	0	0			
9	▯▥◢ů	Rack	APC 48U 60x105 D	~		7	0	0			

• Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of fields (7, when there are no custom fields)

• This will take you to the fields list for that rack type. Click on the 'Add new' button

Obje Filter	ect Fie	lds (Type: <mark>2 post rack 42</mark> U Apply	I) To csv Add	d new		
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value
1		Available Units		0		42
2		Max Weight [lb]		3		0
3	_	Name		-1		<type></type>
4		Power [W]		1		0
5	_	Power used [W]		2		0
6		Туре		-2		

- This opens the dialog for adding a new field, where you:
- name the field
- pick a default value for your field
- pick a font size for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- set the field as mandatory during the data entry process
- set it as displayed, so that when it is filled out, that value shows up on the diagram (usually next to the rack)
- pick a font color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- pick a fill color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram

Add APC_N	etshelter_SX_4 ×
Name:	
Default Value:	
Font size:	10
Mandatory:	false •
Displayed:	false •
Font color:	-
Fill color:	~
	Submit Cancel

Once the field has been added you can then edit any field parameters from the fields list, as seen previously:

- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated object type.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Property order: this is self-explanatory and lets you choose the order in which the property appears in the properties window of the project when you click on an instance of that type
- Is mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered into the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered into this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created. The apply button next to the field lets you apply the default value for that field to all instances of that type in the project.
- Is tree label: determines the data value that will be displayed in the hierarchy browser. Change this if you want to see a different value displayed for an instance of this type in the hierarchy. The default is typically the name.
- List items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.
- Overrides: click on the value to bring up a list of the overrides associated with this field and object type.
- Lock list: Allow an override list to be non-editable. If this is checked then a user cannot override the list values. They must choose a value that is already in the list.
- Is unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this object type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Apply Font settings link: applies any font settings for this field to all instances of the object where the field is displayed.

ilter	Apply	Clear							Records	s per page 10	00 Show
#	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value		Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (
1	Available Units		0		42	Apply	0	0	0		
2	Max Weight [lb]		3		0	Apply	0	0	0		
3 🛄	Name		-1		<type></type>	Apply	۲				
4 [   ]	Power [W]		1		0	Apply	0	0	0		
5	Power used [W]		2		0	Apply	0	0	0		
6	Туре		-2			Apply					
7 🔟	User		5 🗸			Apply	0	0	0		
8	Weight used [lb]		4		0	Apply	0	0	0		

New custom field for a rack type

# 5.1.6.1 Deleting a custom field

Deleting a custom field is easy: go to the fields list view for the rack type and simply press the delete button on the left of the field you want to remove.

ilter	Apply	Clear							Records	per page 10	00 Show
#	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value		Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (†
1	Available Units		0		42	Apply	0	0	0		
2 1	Max Weight [lb]		3		0	Apply	0	0	0		
3 🛄	Name		-1		<type></type>	Apply	۲				
4 1	Power [W]		1		0	Apply	0	0	0		
5 1111	Power used [W]		2		0	Apply	0	0	0		
6	Туре		-2			Apply					
1	User		5 🗸	]		Apply	0	0	0		
8 1111	Weight used [lb]		4		0	Apply	0	0	0		

Deleting a custom field for a rack type

Notice that the delete button is not enabled for system fields.

#### Attention!

As you might expect, all the values for the field corresponding to instances of that type in the project will be deleted. As such, be careful with this operation, since it cannot be undone.

#### 5.1.7 Predefined rack visual overrides

Racks are a bit special in the sense that they already include some predefined overrides. By means of the special system fields we saw above.

Because of aggregate properties being automatically computed for racks, netTerrain can dynamically change the colors of racks based on rack unit occupancy, used power and weight. These visual overrides can be overridden with custom overrides as well, but the main difference between these predefined overrides and custom ones is that the former overrides are included as radio buttons in a Rack Override feature visible in the properties pane (on the project side) that allow users to switch from one override criteria to another, as depicted below.



Predefined rack overrides as seen in the project

With this feature, a user can switch from one override criteria to another, and the rack colors will change accordingly. These predefined overrides to have a fixed range of colors based on the following rules:

- 0 to 25% is represented in green
- 25% to 50% is represented in yellow
- 50% to 75% is represented in orange
- 75% and higher is represented in red

#### 5.1.8 Creating list items and visual overrides for a rack field

The predefined overrides seen before can be useful, yet you may want to set your own visual overrides for racks. Just like with nodes, one can access the list items and visual overrides list for a rack type field by clicking on the override number, as shown below:

ilter	Apply	Clear							Records	per page 1	00 Show Id Fi
#	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value		Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List	Is Unique (this t
1 1	Available Units		0		42	Apply	0	0	0		
2 1	Max Weight [lb]		3		0	Apply	0	3	3		
3 111	Name		-1		<type></type>	Apply	۲				
4 111	Power [W]		1		42	Apply	0	0	0		
5 🛄	Power used [W]		2		0	Apply	0	0	0		
6 111	Туре		-2		ļ.	Apply					
7 🔟	Weight used [lb]		4		0	Apply	0	0	0		

Visual override and list item link for a rack field

To create a new list item or visual override for a rack type field, go to the fields list and follow these steps:

- Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of overrides (obviously 0 when there are none)
- This will take you to the overrides list for that rack type. Click on the 'Add new' button

F	ilter		Apply Clear							
#		ID	Object Type	Field	Value	Rule	Is Override	Override	Instance effect	
1	Ē	140212	Wright Line 42U	AVG PDU PWR	300	> v			No Effects 🗸	No Effe
2	Ē	140213	Wright Line 42U	AVG PDU PWR	280	> v			No Effects 🗸	No Effe
3	Ē	140214	Wright Line 42U	AVG PDU PWR	250	> v			No Effects 🗸	No Effe

- This opens the dialog for adding a new override, where you:
- provide the value that will trigger the override (in the case of a simple list item this is just the list item value)
- specify whether this is an override or not (if you choose false then this completes the process for adding a list item)
- choose the rule that will trigger the override (equal to, contains, greater than, less than)
- set the override image

Add Override o	or List Item	x
Value:	I	
Override:	true 🔻	
Rule:	= •	
Override Image:	Choose an image	
		_
	Submit Cancel	

Once the override has been added you can then edit any parameters from the overrides list, as seen before when analyzing nodes:

- Value
- Rule
- Is Override
- Override
- Instance effect
- Parent effect
- Upwards propagation

#### Attention!

When creating custom visual overrides, these take precedence over any system visual overrides. Once a custom visual override value has been triggered, you will not be able to see the visual override on a system field as netTerrain can only display one type of icon for an instance.

### 5.1.8.1 Deleting an override or list item

To delete an override or list item for a rack field go to the overrides list view for the rack type and field and simply press the delete button on the left of the entry you want to remove.

# 5.2 Smart devices

We explained some of the uses of smart devices (or just devices) at the beginning of the chapter. As mentioned above, if you are a user of netTerrain DCIM you probably want to use smart objects in case you

need to document entities like routers, switches, cards or cabinets, so that you can take advantage of some of the business rules and automation that netTerrain offers. These business rules and features include:

- An extensive predefined library of makes and models
- automatic creation of subcomponents (ports and slot)
- automatic creation of a background image
- awareness of physical size and weight
- easy "snap in" for rack mounting
- awareness of power consumption
- ability to receive automatic alarms from the ITK
- more comprehensive modeling capabilities such as the ability to specify reference node location
- ability to restrict which card types can be positioned under which slot
- pre-defined reports in the dashboard
- Discovery capabilities

Strictly speaking, a device is an instance of a type that was created in the catalog using the type group 'Device' during the creation process. Of course, this definition is recursive, but it is up to the user to define what exactly constitutes a device. Because of the flexible nature of netTerrain, you could in theory model anything as a device, but in general it is any box (router, server, UPS, switch, patch panel, etc.) that contains subcomponents (such as ports and slots) and has certain default physical and environmental parameters such as size, power and weight.

During the modeling process, devices are built or "modeled" with specific properties, for instance rack unit size, power and weight capacities. In addition, subcomponents such as ports and slots can be added to a device. As mentioned before, this provides a high degree of automation, since every time an instance of a specific device type is added in the project, all the type properties are inherited, and all the subcomponents are automatically created.

A default installation of netTerrain DCIM contains a few thousand common types, but as you will learn later, adding new ones is not complicated. Moreover, if your netTerrain maintenance contract is current, you can request us to model the devices for you at no extra charge. Cause we are nice people, you know.

### 5.2.1 Creating a new device

You can create a new device type in a few different ways:

- Import a Json or Zip device package
- Create the device manually step-by-step from the catalog
- Drag and drop an image from a browser or folder and follow the rest of the process manually

In this section we will go over the import and manual creation process and later we will review the detailed manual modeling process.

# 5.2.1.1 Creating a device from a Json or Zip package

One of the beauties of maintenance is that Graphical Networks can model device, card and rack types for you. To do so, simply enter a ticket in your support portal with basic information about make and model and we will model the device with its backplane image, subcomponents and more. We will then deliver a Zip or Json file to you, which you can then import into your catalog.

To import the file into the catalog simply go to the catalog Device section, click on 'Import Zip' or 'Import Json' at the top, browse for your file and voila!

<b>@</b> D	evice T	Types	× +							
← -	→ C	0 localho	st/vis95/Catalog/D	)eviceTyp	es					
G	GRAPH	HICAL ORKS					$\otimes$	Back to pro	oject 🛛 🌐	
	Devic Filter	e Types <mark>(Switc</mark> h	to category view	/] To ear	csv Add new Import	Zip Import Json				
	#		ID	Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances
	1	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000002785	Device	12 AC Plugs	~		12	0	0
	2	0 🖻 🖉	2600000002725	Device	12 AC Plugs_B	~		12	0	0
	3	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000008590	Device	12 fiber MPO to MPO-24 fibe	~		12	0	0
	4	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000016786	Device	12 port fiber wall mount box	~		12	0	0
	5	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000015487	Device	12 Slot Patch Panel 4U	~		12	0	0

### 5.2.1.2 Creating a device manually

To add a new device, go to the catalog and look for the 'Add New' button next to the devices group. You can also click on the ## value next to the 'Devices'. This will list all existing devices. Then you can click on the 'Add New' button.

Groups		
Nodes	175	Add new
Line Nodes	0	Add new
Racks	198	Default Custom Fields Add new
Devices	9284	Default Custom Fields Add new
Cards	5724	Default Custom Fields Add new
Port Object		

Adding a new device type to the catalog

Pressing the add button will bring up a pop-up dialog box that can be used to create a new device type in the catalog.



Add device form

Let's review each field:

- Name: must be unique and cannot exceed 255 characters.
- Image: this is a mandatory step when creating a device. The supported image types include PNG, JPEG, GIF, and SVG. The image that is uploaded will be the image that will be displayed when the device is used in a diagram, unless overridden by a visual override. You will also see a thumbnail of the image in certain catalog list views. The image will be uploaded and stored on the netTerrain application server.
- Favorite: set the value as true if you would like the new device to show up in the favorites list in the project. Favorites are filtered from the rest of the types on the project side when clicking on the 'Device' button in the insert menu or checking the 'fav' option in the floating catalog.
- Enabled: if you would like the device type to show up in the type drop down box list when you work with device instances then it needs to be enabled. This list is displayed when you click on an existing device that has been added to a diagram. Disabled devices are automatically removed from the favorites list.
- Default Width: the default width of new devices of this type when added to a diagram. Units are in inches.
- Default Height: The default height of this new device type when added to a diagram. This value is in inches.

Important to note is that the previous sizes refer to the image of the device node, not the physical dimensions that will be computed when rack mounting the device. Devices have effectively two distinct sets of dimensions: one that is only relevant in terms of the relative size of the node on a diagram (the default width and size shown above) and only has meaning in terms of what you would want the default size of that node to be when added to the project diagram, and the other one representing the actual physical size of the device when rack mounted. The physical sizes are defined later in this section, when we model devices, but to keep it simple, many users use the same set of dimensions for both sets. All dimensions for both sets are specified in inches.

After submitting the new device type, it is added to the list of devices. From the device list you can rename the device type assign it to a custom category for better organization, change the default image, or create custom fields and visual overrides, as depicted below:

CRAPHICAL					(	) Back to	project	⊕   ●		í   🗶	<b>¢</b>	٩	0 0	9 6
Device Types [Switch	h to category vi	iew] Ta	csv Add new Im	port Zip Import Json								Records in table: 1	Records on page	e: 1
2600000018608	Apply	Clear								Records pe	r page	100 Hide Id Field	Default sorting	
#	ID 👻	Group	Name	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	ls Favorite	Is Enable	d	Default Width [in]	Default Heigh	ht (in
1 🖸 🖮 ⊿	2600000018608	Device	Juniper NSMXpress		·	12	0	0				1.9	0.35	
1 out of 1 < >	1 Go													
<														>

New device type displayed in the device list view
Also, from the device list you can control the following settings for each device:

- mark the device as favorite: this will make the device show up in the floating catalog under favorites
- Enable or disable it from the catalog in the project
- Set the default width and height
- Force to keep the aspect ratio during resizing
- Assign a default template to it
- Set the SNMP system object Id for automated type mapping in a discovery

As we mentioned above, just like we did with regular nodes, you can add custom fields, define visual overrides, assign the type to a category and so on. You can refer to the generic node type section to review each one of these operations.

### 5.2.1.3 Limiting inventory with the 'In stock' option

If you would like to use netTerrain for inventory control, the 'In Stock' option lets you limit the number of instances of a given device type that can be added in the project.

This field is optional and if a device type has a set 'In stock' value, then any user trying to import or drag and drop a device of that type into the project, can only do so if the number of instances does not exceed said value.

To remove any existing inventory limits, simply blank out the field.

#### 5.2.1.4 Custom OIDs

One important difference between the custom field creation for a generic node and a device is that device fields can have an associated custom OID. Without going into too much detail, an OID is an Object Identifier used in the SNMP discovery protocol to identify a property to be discovered for a device. When using the netTerrain discovery collector, netTerrain can automatically request a scan of a specific OID if the discovered device also matches the netTerrain type, which is done via the SystemOld.

#### 5.2.1.5 Default custom fields for devices

In many projects that utilize a variety of device types, there may be a set of common fields that apply to any type. To save yourself the effort of having to create these fields every time, for every new device type you add in the catalog, you can predefine the default custom fields that netTerrain should create automatically after adding a new device type.

These default custom fields for devices can be managed from the catalog dashboard:

Groups		
Nodes	175	Add new
Line Nodes	0	Add new
Racks	198	Default Custom Fields Add new
Devices	9284	Default Custom Fields Add new
Cards	5724	Default Custom Fields Add new
Port Object		

Defining default custom fields for devices

After clicking on the 'Default Custom Fields' link you are taken to a list view where you can manage these default custom fields, as shown below:



Device type default custom fields management

Notice that when you add a new default custom field to the list, the field will be added to any new types created but will not modify the structure of custom fields for existing types.

You can, however, apply all the defined default custom fields to all existing types by pressing on the 'Add to all types' button.

Default Custom Fields	To csv	Add ne v	Add to all types
Apply	Clear		
Name			

Applying all default custom fields to all types

You can also apply one default custom field to all types by pressing on the "Add to all types" link next to the field, as shown below:

Devi	ce Def	ault Custom Fields To cs	w To Excel Add New
Filter		Apply Cle	ear
#		Name	
1	Ē	Notes	Add to all types
2	Ē	Cost	Add to all types
3	Ē	Owner	Add to all types

Adding one default custom field to all types

# 5.2.2 Device modeling process

The device modeling process lets you assign a backplane image to the device and overlay subcomponents on top of it, so that end users don't have to manually create them for each instance.

In addition to creating subcomponents, the device modeling process lets you specify properties for the device.

After the initial creation of the device, you can proceed with the modeling. If you are still in the list view for the device you created, you should see a 'Modeler' button **Section**. If you are not in the device list view, go to the 'Catalog' and click on the device group ## count.

### 5.2.2.1 Device properties

To get started with the modeling process, first fill in the device properties, as displayed below.

Properties	Settings
Peak Power [W]	0
Weight [lb]	7.3
Physical Width [in]	19
Physical Height [in]	1.75
Description	3Com? Switch 4500 10/1
Vendor	3Com 🔻
Template	•
Ports	
Slots	
Links	0
Instances	
Slot Mapping	

Device properties in modeler

These properties include:

- Peak Power [W]: maximum power that this device type supports. This is not a mandatory field and can be modified on a per device instance basis. As such, we could say that this value represents the nameplate device peak power. When rack mounting devices, this is the value that is aggregated in the rack power computation. Check with the manufacturer of the device to get the power specifications for the type.
- Weight [lb]: nameplate weight of the device type. This is not a mandatory field and can be modified on a per device instance basis. When rack mounting devices, this is the value that is aggregated in the rack weight computation.
- Description: non-mandatory field used as a short description for this rack type
- Vendor: this field is a non-mandatory lookup value from the vendors table. If the vendor is not in the list it will need to be added before proceeding (see previous chapter).
- Template: if the device will use a standard default diagram template it can be assigned here (see End User Guide for template usage).
- Ports: this represents the number of ports on the motherboard of this device type. Click on this ## and a table view of the ports will be displayed and can be edited. Note that this number does not account for any ports associated with cards that can be placed on device slots.
- Slots: this represents the number of slots on the motherboard. Slots can be used to mount cards, once card types have been mapped to slots (more on this later).
- Links: this number represents the count of internal links that have been modeled for this type. Typically, this is done for patch panels or other devices where a certain number of links are always present even when the device has no external connections. This feature is useful to for example, when you want to define internal cross connections for the internal device matrix, or physical cross connections between front and back panels (more on this later).
- Instances: the number of occurrences of this type in the project. Naturally, this value is zero if you are modeling this device type for the first time.

# 5.2.2.2 Backplane image

Once the properties have been entered for the device you can proceed with the actual modeling sequence. First, you need to create a background image that will serve as a guide for placing port or slot objects on top of it. Ideally, the device image should display the backplane of the device and serve as a reference for users assigning ports to it.

Note that some devices have ports on both sides, so it is not uncommon to use a composite device image that has both the front and back view.

To add the background image, click on the



for an image on your local drive. Valid image formats include png, jpg, gif as raster formats and svg as vector formats.



Empty modeler page for a new device type

### 5.2.2.3 Port modeling

After uploading the background image for the device you can proceed with the modeling of subcomponents (ports and slots). To create a new port for the type simply click on the add port button located in the toolbar. For convenience (especially useful for devices that have multiples of 6 ports) there is also a button to add 6 ports at once.



Buttons to add ports in device model

Another convenient way of creating multiple ports is using the copy 6 and copy 24 options in the port right click context menu (more on that later).

Proceed to move and resize the ports as needed. Take advantage of the arrange and resize buttons on the toolbar.

Each port is an object in its own right. As such, when these ports are automatically created in the project, they will inherit default properties from the modeler. These values can be overridden on a per instance basis. These default properties include:

- Name: the name of the port. The default value is numeric and starts with 1 when the first port is created for the device type.
- Protocol: The physical port protocol is user defined, and can be overridden on a per instance basis. Examples of protocol values include ethernet, V.35, fast ethernet, etc.
- Connector: this is a descriptive field that comes in handy when assigning visual overrides based on the port connector. These values are user defined and can be overridden on a per instance basis. Examples of connector values include RJ45, SC or LC.

Note that ports can also have additional fields added to them. To do so, go to the catalog and find the 'Port' object. Click on it and add custom fields just like with any other type.



Port modeled on top of a device backplane

Ports have certain right click context menu options, for easy manipulation and modeling:

- Delete: deletes the selected ports. Note that you can delete ports using the toolbar buttons as well and any deleted ports will delete every occurrence of that port in the project.
- Select all of type: selects all instances of references for that type
- Copy 6: creates 6 copies of the selected port. This option is only enabled when one port is selected.
- Copy 24: creates 24 copies of the selected port. This option is only enabled when one port is selected.
- Connect to: this option lets you create pre defined internal connections between ports on the current device types. As explained above, these per defined links are usually utilized in the context of cross connections.
- Create Connections: If another port has been copied to the clipboard, this option will be available for creating a link. When selected a dialog will appear.
- Apply size to all of type: applies the size of the selected port (only enabled when one is selected) to the rest of the ports.
- Apply to all instances: applies the settings of the selected ports, to all occurrences of those ports in the project.



Right click context menu options for ports

#### 5.2.2.4 Modeling references

The screenshot above shows a white "name" box. These boxes are created automatically for each port and is called the reference port object. This object is not real, it is just a representation of the location where a reference node would show up, when you connect the port with another node in the project. The white box

then provides a convenient way for nicely auto-placing references in the project. In the project, the reference port is only visible after a connection is made to the physical port for an instance of that device type.

It is preferrable to first model the size and position of the "real" ports and then proceed with the resizing and positioning of the references. Sometimes when modeling the "real" ports, these white boxes get in the way (especially for devices with many ports). For that purpose in the modeler you can hide the references, work with the real ports, then display the references again and proceed to model the reference ports. To hide the references simply right click on them and select hide.

Use some of the other right click context options for reference ports:

- Select all of type: selects all instances of references for that type
- Resize: provides options to match the width and height of the selected reference/s to the dimensions of the connecting port/s.
- Align: provides options to align the selected reference ports with its connected physical port
- Apply size to all of type: applies the size of the selected reference (only enabled when one reference is selected) to the rest of the references
- Apply to all instances: applies the settings of the selected references, to all occurrences of those references in the project



Right click context menu options for references

## 5.2.2.5 Working with text and displayed fields

As explained above, ports can have an unlimited number of custom fields, and you can choose which ones will be displayed on the diagram by default. Port and reference port displayed fields can also be set in advance in the modeler so that they follow a pre defined pattern for each instance in the project. This saves time when creating nice looking device diagrams. Users can edit each text by double clicking on the displayed field or by right clicking on it and selecting 'Text'. Text can be resized and also rotated using the rotation handler.

Properties	Settings	•	Object Types	Cisco AS2511-RJ					
Name	7	🖬							
Protocol	Serial								
Connector	RJ45			Name Name	Name Name	Name Name	Name Fdit N	lame Value	x
Status							Edit		<u> </u>
Slot Name	Slot Name						fx		
Path		🔳				13"			
				9 ASYNC 10	11 ASYNC 12	13 ASYNC 14	15 ASYN		
				2	3 4 🥔	5			
				1 ASYNC 2	3 ASYNC 4	5 ASYNC 6	- SYN		
				Name Name	Name Name	Name Name	Name I		
								Ok Cancel	
							_	OK Cancel	

Editing the text for a port. Rotation handler is shown in the smaller red indicator

To select which fields should be displayed by default, simply select the port and check the applicable fields on the properties window, as shown below.

Properties	Settings	Object Types Cisco AS2511-RJ
Name	7 🗹	
Protocol	Serial 📃 🗌	1811 1411 1(19) 1611
Connector	RJ45 📃 🗌	12 13 ASYNC 14 15 ASYNC 16
Status	T 🖬	
Slot Name	Slot Name 🛛 🛄	
Path		
		ime Name Name Name Name

Port displayed field selection

# 5.2.2.6 Modeling reference node display field positioning

Selecting a reference node will display a list of all the "port" fields available. These fields can be used to predefine the default position of a reference node displayed field.

Properties	Settings
Name	Name 🔜 🗹
Protocol	Protocol
Connector	Connector
Status	Status
Slot Name	Slot Name 🛛 🛄
Path	Path

#### Reference node display field selection list

By placing a check mark next to the field name it will enable the field within the modeler. Ultimately this will make the field data for this field type display when the device is used and a connection exists with this port.

Properties	Settings	Object Types Cisco AS2511-RJ
Name	Name 🔜 🗹	
Protocol	Protocol	
Connector	Connector	
Status	Status	T T
Slot Name	Slot Name 🛛 🛄	
Path	Path 🔜	Name

Reference node fields marked for display

#### 5.2.2.7 Creating predefined links (or cross connections)

As mentioned above, in many cases users want to represent internal connections between ports on the same device and these connections repeat themselves throughout most or all instances of a device type. Examples include internal logical connections for a switch matrix, or physical cross connections between front and back sides of patch panels.

Why would we want to track this? Picture this example: a circuit that traverses certain devices and enters a patch panel. The patch panel has a front and a back side where ports 1f (front) through 24f (front) are always connected to ports 1b (back) through 24b (back). If we were to run a circuit layout record (end to end view of the circuit, see end user guide for this feature) for the circuit, its representation would terminate at the patch panel if these ports are not cross connected.

Also, we may want to understand internal properties of these cross connections, which can be tracked with custom properties assigned to the links representing them.

To create a cross connection in the catalog you can select the two endpoints and then click on the link butneton on the toolbar and select which link type will be used.



Single cross connection creation process in the modeler

You can also create multiple cross connections at once by following this process:

- select all the starting ports
- copy them to the clicpboard
- select the end ports
- right click and select create connections
- pick the connection pattern and link type
- click 'Ok'

Note that you can cross connect multiple ports using different sequencing patterns:

- By name: will choose the starting and ensing sequences based on alphabetic sorting of port sets
- By horizontal position: will match the first element of the starting port set with the first element of the ending port set, and so on, using the horizontal positions as ordering criteria
- By vertical position: will match the first element of the starting port set with the first element of the ending port set, and so on, using the vertical positions as ordering criteria
- All to all: will connect every port of the copied set with every port of the selected set.

netTerrain is smart enough to know how to connect ports if the starting and ending sets don't match. Also you can connect one port to many in one simple process by copying the one port to the clipboard, selecting the ending ports and then using the 'All to all' option.



Multi cross connect option

# 5.2.2.8 Modeling bend points

Any lines used in the context of reference ports or internal cross connections can include bend points. This means that when an instance of this device is created in the project, lines generated by references, as well as internal links will already include those predefined bend points. This can be useful in busy diagrams where you want to reroute lines to make the model look better or in such cases where the backplane image itself includes the representation of the lines.

The modeling of bend points works the same way as in the project: right click on any link and add the bend point or press 'b'.



Modeling bend points in the catalog

Once you are done modeling bend points, don't forget to press the 'Apply Settings to all instances' button if you also want these bend points to appear on any existing instances of that model in the project.

GRAPHICAL	Page Insert Edit Arra	range Tools Help 🚖	
Ē			
Delete Hide C	Copy Paste Select All	All of Type Apply Apply Links Setting 3	
Properties	Settings	Object Types APC AP7902	
Peak Power [W]	3500		
Weight [lb]	10		
Physical Width [in]	19		
Physical Height [in]	3.5	Name Na	ame
Description	Rack PDU, Switched, 2U, 30A	DA, 120'	
Vendor	APC		
Template		• •	
Ports			
Slots			
Links	1		
Instances			
Slot Mapping	Table		

Applying bend points to existing instances

# 5.2.3 Modeling slots

In addition to modeling ports you can model slots by clicking on the add slot button in the insert menu. As with ports, there is a button to add 6 slots in one click.



Buttons to add slots to a device model

Once slots have been added, they can be positioned and resized on top of the device backplane image. Each slot name can also be edited.

Slots are displayed as white rectangles in the modeler, so it may be convenient to work with them, with any reference ports hidden, since they are also white.

Just like with ports, slots can also have additional custom fields. Find the slot type in the catalog and proceed to add fields using the same steps as with ports.



Slot element in modeler

## 5.2.3.1 Mapping cards to slots

Slots are not very useful unless they support cards. netTerrain has a high degree of control regarding which card types can be mapped to which slot. What this means is that whenever an end user clicks on a slot in the project, a drop-down list of possible cards that can be associated to that slot is provided. To map cards to slots, the card type must obviously already exist in the catalog (see next section on how to create cards in the catalog).

Cards can be mapped to slots by clicking on the "slot mapping" link available in the properties window for the device modeler.

Properties	Settings
Peak Power [W]	2500
Weight [lb]	135
Physical Width [in]	19
Physical Height [in]	26.25
Description	Catalyst 6009 Switch Cha
Vendor	Cisco •
Template	•
Ports	2
Slots	9
Links	0
Instances	9
Slot Mapping	Table

Slot mapping feature in device modeler

After clicking on the 'Table' link displayed above, a slot mapping table is displayed. For new device types, or devices that have no cards mapped to its slots, the list will be empty.

Slot I	Mappin	g (Device: <mark>Cisco \</mark>	WS-C6009)	To csv Add new Map	to All Slots
Filter		Арр	ly Clear		
#		Device Type	Slot Name	Card Type	
1	<del>-</del>	Cisco WS-C6009	1	Cisco WS-X6516A-GBIC	
2	_ 	Cisco WS-C6009	1	Cisco WS-X6348-RJ45	
3	_ 	Cisco WS-C6009	1	Cisco WS-X6516-GE-TX	
4	Ē	Cisco WS-C6009	1	Cisco WS-X6524-100FX-MM	

To map a single card to a specific slot press the 'Add New' option. This will allow you to map a card to a specific slot number. Next, you can pick the slot number you want to map cards to and the card type that goes with that slot.

Since the list of cards can be a very lengthy one, we suggest taking advantage of the filter option to narrow down your choices.

Add Slot Mapping	x
Slot	Card Type
Filter 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	10GB         Cisco 8-10GBE         Cisco 14X10GBE-WL-XFP         Cisco 20x10GBE-WL-XFP         Dell 7xxx 10GBT Module         Dell 7xxx 10GBT Module         Dell 81xx 10GBase-T Module         Dell C-Series 16x10GbE-T         Dell N3xxx 10GBASE-T Module         HP 1/10Gb-F Virtual Connect         HP JC755A 10GBASE-R-SFP+         HP JC755A 10GBASE-R-SFP+
	HP JG394A 1/10GBASE-T SF HP Virtual Connect FlexFabric 10Gb/24 Submit Cancel

#### Slot mapping dialog

If a card should be mapped to all slots then use the 'Map to all slots' option. After the cards are mapped to the proper slots, all mappings for the device type will be displayed in the list view. The list view includes the following links:

- Delete: will delete the mapping from the list (this will not remove any existing cards of that type already assigned to that slot in the project)
- Device type: a link to go to the catalog definition of the device
- Slot Name: a shortcut to go to the modeler and highlighted the slot on the chassis
- Card Type: a link to go to the catalog definition of the card

Filter		Ap	ply Clear	
#		Link	Name	CardsCount
1	Ē	Show in modeler	1	8
2	Ē	Show in modeler	2	8
3	Ē	Show in modeler	3	8
4	Ē	Show in modeler	4	8
5	Ē	Show in modeler	5	8
6	Ē	Show in modeler	6	8
7	Ē	Show in modeler	7	8
8	Ē	Show in modeler	8	8
9	Ē	Show in modeler	9	0
1 0	ut of 1	< > 1 Go		



# 5.2.4 Adding a device type by dragging and dropping

There is a nice trick to add a device type into the catalog quickly: by dragging and dropping an image from a folder or browser! This must be done from the project side, from any diagram.

The best way to use this trick is to have both the netTerrain browser and the folder or website with the image side-by-side. Then, just drag and drop the desired image to the netTerrain diagram, as shown below:



Create a device type by dragging and dropping an image

After you dropped the image on the diagram, netTerrain gives you the option to create it as a floating image, a node type, a device type, or a rack type. Choose the 'Device' option:



Choosing the '\_\_Device\_\_' option to create a node type

This completes the process; however, it is up to you to access the catalog for that type and then add any custom properties or behaviors or model the device itself.

# 5.2.5 Special device fields

Just like with nodes and links, once a device type has been created, it contains three mandatory fields that exist for every instance of a device type in the project:

- Id: a 14-digit system-generated number (not visible on the field list view)
- Name: the field that will store the name of each instance
- Type: the field that stores the type of device

Device types also contain a few special fields: environmental properties that a user can edit on a per instance basis and are inherited from the type once you start instantiating them in the project. These special device properties are the following:

- Peak Power [W]: this is the predefined static nameplate power value assigned to the type. Typically, the value entered here is the nameplate power published by the vendor.
- Weight [lb.]: this is the predefined static weight published by the vendor. For modular equipment you may choose whether to populate it with an empty, average or fully loaded configuration. When using the empty configuration, you can create your own expression in netTerrain to aggregate the computed actual weight based on the loaded cards.
- Status (non-mandatory): a value usually associated with the ability of the device in a production environment to respond to a request.

Properties	Settings
ld	24000000226280
Туре	_aaaa 📃 🔳
Name	_aaaa 🛛 🔜 🗹
Peak Power [W]	0 💷
Weight [lb]	0 📃 🔳
Status	
Cost	
Owner	
Life	
Catalog	Fields
Audit Trail	1

\_Device special fields \_

In sum, all device types contain at least five system fields. Below is the list of all system fields that exist for a new device type that was just created in the catalog:

lter	Apply	Clear						Records	s per page
#	Name	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List
1	Туре		-2		Apply				
2 🛄	Name		-1	2	<type> Apply</type>	۲			
3 🛄	Peak Power [W]		0		2500 Apply	0	0	0	
4 1	Weight [lb]		1		135 Apply	0	0	0	
5 []]]	Status		2		Apply	0	0	0	

Minimum set of fields (system fields) for devices

Besides the name, which you can edit using one of the default value auto naming functions, notice the two editable environmental fields, which you can edit:

- Max weight
- Power [W]

As mentioned previously, these two fields are inherited by every instance of the device type and can be edited (or overridden) in the project on an instance-by-instance basis.

## 5.2.6 Custom device fields

Just like with nodes and links, and in addition to modeling your device types according to your specifications, you may want to create custom fields that represent other properties of the device instances. To create a custom property for a device type, go to the device types list and follow these steps:

uniper		Apply Cl	ear							R
#		ID	Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite
1	Ū 🖻 ⊿	2600000005757	Device	Juniper ACX1000	~		12	0	5	
2	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000005759	Device	Juniper ACX1100	~	<u></u>	12	0	0	
3	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000005760	Device	Juniper ACX2000	~		12	0	0	
4	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000005761	Device	Juniper ACX2100	~		12	0	0	
5	Ū 🖻 ⊿	2600000012162	Device	Juniper ACX2200	~		12	0	1	
6	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000005762	Device	Juniper ACX4000	~		12	0	0	
7	0 🖻 ⊿	2600000012163	Device	Juniper ACX500	~	📰 aan aa taan aa dhii 📖	12	0	0	

• Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of fields (5, when there are no custom fields)

• This will take you to the fields list for that device type. Click on the 'Add new' button

ilter		Apply C	lear					
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value	ls Tree Label	List Ite
1	Ē	Comments		7	·	Apply	0	0
2	Ē	Description_Detailed		8	·	Apply	0	0
3	Ē	IP_Address		3	·	Apply	0	0
4	Ē	MaintenanceExpiration		4	·	Apply	0	0
5	- 	Name		-1		<type> Apply</type>	۲	

- This opens the dialog for adding a new field, where you:
- name the field
- pick a default value for your field
- pick a font size for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- set the field as mandatory during the data entry process
- set it as displayed, so that when it is filled out, that value shows up on the diagram (usually next to the device)
- pick a font color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- $\boldsymbol{\cdot}$  pick a fill color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram

Add IBDN AX	(101611 Field	x
		_
Name:		
Default Value:		
Font size:	10	
Mandatory:	false	7
Displayed:	false	7
Font color:	<b>•</b>	
Fill color:	~	
	Submit Cance	

Once the field has been added you can then edit any field parameters from the fields list, as seen previously:

- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated object type.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Property order: this is self-explanatory and lets you choose the order in which the property appears in the properties window of the project when you click on an instance of that type
- Is mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered into the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered into this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created. The apply button next to the field lets you apply the default value for that field to all instances of that type in the project.
- Is tree Label: determines the data value that will be displayed in the hierarchy browser. Change this if you want to see a different value displayed for an instance of this type in the hierarchy. The default is typically the name.
- List Items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.
- Overrides: click on the value to bring up a list of the overrides associated with this field and object type.
- Lock List: Allow an override list to be non-editable. If this is checked then a user cannot override the list values. They must choose a value that is already in the list.
- Is Unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is Unique (all types): Restricts all new inputs of this field for any object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this object type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Apply Font settings link: applies any font settings for this field to all instances of the object where the field is displayed.

Obje	ct Field	ls (Type: Juniper ACX100	D) To csv Add	d new Tagging			3				Decent	
#		Name •	Is in Properties	Property Order		Is Mandatory	Default Value		ls Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List
1	Ē	Comments		7	~			Apply	0	0	0	
2	Ē	Description_Detailed		8	~			Apply	0	0	0	
3	Ē	IP_Address		3	~			Apply	0	0	0	
4	Ē	MaintenanceExpiration		4	~			Apply	0	0	0	
5	- 	Name		-1			<type></type>	<ul> <li>Apply</li> </ul>	۲			

New custom field for a device type

# 5.2.6.1 Deleting a custom field

Deleting a custom field is easy: go to the fields list view for the device type and simply press the delete button on the left of the field you want to remove.

lter	Apply	Clear							Records	s per page 10
#	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Manda	tory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List
1 l	Comments		7	•		Ар	oly O	0	0	
2 โ	 Description_Detailed		8	•		Ap	oly O	0	0	
з [	IP_Address		3	•		Ap	oly O	0	0	
4 โ	MaintenanceExpiration		4	•		Ар	oly 🔿	0	0	
5 [	Name		-1			<type></type>	bly 🔘			

Deleting a custom field for a device type

Notice that the delete button is not enabled for system fields.

#### Attention!

As you might expect, all the values for the field corresponding to instances of that type in the project will be deleted. As such, be careful with this operation, since it cannot be undone.

# 5.2.7 Creating list items and visual overrides for a device field

Just as with nodes or racks you may want to set your own visual overrides for devices. You can access the list items and visual overrides list for a device type field by clicking on the override number, as shown below:

)bjeo	t Field	ls (Type: Juniper ACX1000	0) To csv Ad Clear	d new Tagging			L3				Records	s per page 10
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order		Is Mandatory	Default Value		Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List
1	Ē	Comments		7	~			Apply	0	0	0	
2	Ē	Description_Detailed		8	*			Apply	0	0	0	
3	Ē	IP_Address		3	~			Apply	0	0	0	
4	Ē	MaintenanceExpiration		4	~			Apply	0	0	0	
5		Name		-1			<type></type>	Apply	۲			

Visual override and list item link for a device field

To create a new list item or visual override for a device type field, go to the fields list and follow these steps:

- Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of overrides (obviously 0 when there are none)
- This will take you to the overrides list for that device type. Click on the 'Add new' button
- This opens the dialog for adding a new override, where you:
- provide the value that will trigger the override (in the case of a simple list item this is just the list item value)
- specify whether this is an override or not (if you choose false then this completes the process for adding a list item)
- choose the rule that will trigger the override (equal to, contains, greater than, less than)
- set the override image

Add Override o	or List Item	x
Value:	l	
Override:	true 🔻	
Rule:	= •	
Override Image:	Choose an image	
		_
	Submit Cancel	

Once the override has been added you can then edit any parameters from the overrides list, as seen before when analyzing nodes:

- Value
- Rule
- Is Override
- Override
- Instance effect
- Parent effect
- Upwards propagation

#### 5.2.7.1 Deleting an override or list item

To delete an override or list item for a device field go to the overrides list view for the device type and field and simply press the delete button on the left of the entry you want to remove.

#### 5.2.8 Port object

The port object is a special object in the catalog which manages the properties and behaviors of port instances in the project. The creation of ports in the project only happens as a consequence of creating devices or cards and are only instantiated as children of said devices or cards. For each device and card type, their corresponding ports are laid out and predefined as children using one type of entity, which is this port object. As such, the port object does not allow for different types, but catalog managers can modify this port object in terms of adding new properties, behaviors, and other basic physical properties.

To access the port object, click on the 'port object' hyperlink in the main catalog page:

Groups			
Nodes	175	Add n	ew
Line Nodes	0	Add n	ew
Racks	198	Default Custom Fields Add n	ew
Devices	9284	Default Custom Fields Add n	ew
Cards	5724	Default Custom Fields Add n	ew
Port Object			

The port object list, which uses the same format as other object type lists, only displays one entry, which cannot be deleted or cloned:

Object Types [Switch to	o category view] Apply Clear	To csv Add new	Import Zip	Import Json	)						
#	Group	Name 🔺	Category	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Favorite	Is Enabled	Default Width [in]	Default Height (in)
1 🗍 🛄	Port	Port			14	0	126994			0.3	0.3
1 out of 1 < > _1	Go										

Port object list

Let's review each field:

- Name: the name of this type is always "Port" and cannot be changed.
- Category: this entry is empty and cannot be edited as there can't be multiple port object types and it can't be associated with entities from different sections in the catalog.
- Default image: the supported image types include PNG, JPEG, GIF, and SVG.
- Fields: users can add custom fields, just like it is done for device types, node types and so on.
- Overrides: users can modify the behavior of ports by creating custom overrides, just like it is done for device types, node types and so on.
- isFavorite and IsEnabled: these settings are not editable for ports as ports are created automatically for the device and card types for ports are modeled.
- Default width and height: these settings refer to the default width and height displayed on the modeler page of devices and cards. When a power user models the ports for a given device or card type the individual port sizes modeled for said types override these defaults.

## 5.3 Creating and modeling cards

Cards are used in netTerrain DCIM to work in conjunction with their parent devices and are mapped to specific device slots. Cards are modeled in a similar way as devices. The basic difference between a card and a device is that a card is not rack mounted on a rack, but only positioned inside a device slot. Users can

also model daughter cards (sometimes called modules) which are cards positioned inside cards. We saw this in the hardware model previously. This dependency can have unlimited nesting levels (cards inside cards inside cards, etc.). For this nesting to work, the card modeling process must also support slots.

As mentioned before, slots are placeholders for cards and they are defined in the catalog, typically on top of the device backplane image. Devices that contain slots are sometimes referred to as modular. Slots cannot be moved or resized for an instance (it wouldn't make much sense to do so, when was the last time you could stretch a card on a router!). Slots that have been mapped to card types in the catalog can be populated with instances of those types. The card types that are available will depend on the catalog setup, which we will review when we go over hardware mapping.

In the project, to assign a card on a slot a user simply selects the slot, and then picks the card type to place in it, using the type drop down box. The card modeling and hardware mapping in the catalog is what makes all this magic work.



Populating a slot with a card, as seen in the project

A card is modeled in the catalog pretty much like a device. A card can contain:

- Ports
- A background image
- Other slots with cards (or daughtercards)

Once a card has been created, its ports are also created automatically, just like with a device. To see the ports and other subcomponents inside a card just double-click on it.



Card backplane with automatically created ports, as seen in the project

### 5.3.1 Predefined card properties

Cards, just like devices, have the same two predefined properties that are inherited from the catalog:

- Peak Power [W]: this is the predefined nameplate power assigned in the card modeler.
- Weight [lb]: this is the predefined static weight capacity assigned in the card modeler.



#### Predefined card fields as seen in the project

These properties can be overridden on an instance by instance basis. Also, users can create additional custom fields representing power readings, which can in turn be the result of a discovery or some other importing mechanism.

Card dimensions and power consumption can also be modeled, but the play a minor role in the project. Racks do not currently aggregate card name plate power figures, so we recommend that when you specify power for devices you should account for the maximum power when the device is fully loaded with cards. Also, since cards are mapped to slots, the card dimensions become irrelevant from a diagramming perspective, since the cards will automatically fit inside the slot the card is mapped to.

# 5.3.2 Adding cards

To add a new card, go to the catalog and look for the 'Add New' button next to the cards group. You can also click on the ## value next to the 'Cards'. This will list all existing cards. Then you can click on the 'Add New' button.

Groups		
Nodes	175	Add new
Line Nodes	0	Add new
Racks	198	Default Custom Fields Add new
Devices	9284	Default Custom Fields Add new
Cards	5724	Default Custom Fields Add new
Port Object		

#### Adding a new card type in the catalog

Pressing the add button will bring up a pop-up dialog box that can be used to create a new card type in the catalog.

Add Card	Гуре	х
Name:	I	
Group:	Card	
Image:	Choose an image	
Enabled:	true	τ.
	Sut	omit Cancel

#### Adding card type dialog

Once the card has been added to the catalog, netTerrain shows the new type in the card list view.

As you probably know from the device creation process, in netTerrain you can add as many custom fields as possible, on a per card type basis. This gives you maximum granularity when it comes to recording important properties for these objects. Any property for the card can also have visual overrides that can control the look and feel of a card based on changes in any property.

Filter	Apply	Clear			
#	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value
1	Name		-1		<type> Appl</type>
2 -	Peak Power [W]		0		0 Appl
3 🛄	Status		2		Аррі
4 []]]	Туре		-2		Аррі
5	Weight [lb]		1		0 Appl

#### Card properties

As you have seen already, card fields can have all sorts of settings: the order in which they appear in the properties window, whether they are mandatory or not, default values, list items and visual overrides, whether values need to be unique, whether they are displayed on the actual diagram or not and if so, what font type, color, size and so on these properties use.

#### 5.3.2.1 Default custom fields for cards

In many projects that utilize a variety of card types, there may be a set of common fields that apply to any type. To save yourself the effort of having to create these fields every time, for every new card type you add in the catalog, you can predefine the default custom fields that netTerrain should create automatically after adding a new card type.

Groups		
Nodes	175	Add new
Line Nodes	0	Add new
Racks	198	Default Custom Fields Add new
Devices	9284	Default Custom Fields Add new
Cards	5724	Default Custom Fields Add new
Port Object		

These default custom fields for cards can be managed from the catalog dashboard:

Defining default custom fields for cards

After clicking on the 'Default Custom Fields' link you are taken to a list view where you can manage these default custom fields, just like how it is done for devices.

Notice that when you add a new default custom field to the list, the field will be added to any new types created but will not modify the structure of custom fields for existing types.

You can, however, apply all the defined default custom fields to all existing types by pressing on the 'Add to all types' button.

Default Custom Fields	To csv Clear	Add ne.v	Add to all types
Name			

Applying all default custom fields to all types

You can also apply one default custom field to all types by pressing on the "Add to all types" link next to the field, as shown below:

Card Default C	ustom Fields To csv	To Excel Add New
Filter	Apply Clea	ar
#	Name	
1	Comments	Add to all types

Adding one default custom field to all types

# 5.3.3 Card modeling

The card modeling process is the same as the process followed for devices, so you can always refer to that section of the guide. We'll review the entire process here again.
The card modeling process lets you assign a backplane image to the card and overlay subcomponents on top of it, so that end users don't have to manually create them for each instance. In addition to creating subcomponents, the card modeling process lets you specify physical properties for the cards. These physical properties should not be confused with the custom fields we mentioned

After the initial creation of the card, you can proceed with the modeling. If you are still in the list view for the card you created, you should see a 'Modeler' button \_\_\_\_\_\_. If you are not in the card list view, go to the Catalog and click on the card group ## count.

# 5.3.3.1 Card properties

To get started with the modeling process, first fill in the card properties, as displayed below.

Properties	Settings
Peak Power [W]	0
Weight [lb]	0
Physical Width [in]	0
Physical Height [in]	0
Description	PTX3000 Control Board
Vendor	Juniper 🔻
Template	· · · · ·
Ports	
Slots	
Links	0
Instances	
Slot Mapping	
Device Mapping	

Card properties in modeler

These properties include:

- Peak Power [W]: maximum power that this card type supports. This is not a mandatory field and can be modified on a per card instance basis. As such, we could say that this value represents the nameplate card peak power.
- Weight [lb]: nameplate weight of the card type. This is not a mandatory field and can be modified on a per card instance basis.
- Physical Width and Height [in]: as mentioned before, not very relevant from a diagramming perspective, since the cards will automatically fit inside the slot the card is mapped to.
- Description: non-mandatory field used as a short description for this rack type
- Vendor: this field is a non-mandatory lookup value from the vendors table. If the vendor is not in the list it will need to be added before proceeding (see previous chapter).
- Template: if the card will use a standard default diagram template it can be assigned here (see End User Guide for template usage).
- Ports: this represents the number of ports on the motherboard of this card type. Click on this ## and a table view of the ports will be displayed and can be edited.
- Slots: this represents the number of slots on the card. Slots can be used to mount daughtercards.
- Links: this number represents the count of internal links that have been modeled for this type, which is not very common for cards.
- Instances: the number of occurrences of this type in the project. Naturally, this value is zero if you are modeling this card type for the first time.

## 5.3.3.2 Backplane image

Once the properties have been entered for the card you can proceed with the actual modeling sequence. First, you need to create a background image that will serve as a guide for placing port or slot objects on top of it. Ideally, the card image should display the backplane of the card and serve as a reference for users assigning ports to it.

To add the background image, click on the

icon in the Page menu. You will then be able to browse

for an image on your local drive. Valid image formats include PNG, JPG, GIF as raster formats and SVG as vector formats.

# 5.3.3.3 Port modeling

After uploading the background image for the card you can proceed with the modeling of subcomponents. To create a new port for the type simply click on the add port button located in the toolbar. For convenience (especially useful for cards that have multiples of 6 ports) there is also a button to add 6 ports at once.

	Page	Insert	Edit	Arrange	Tools	Help	<b>≜</b>	
		999 999	S					
Add Port Add 6 Ports	Add Slot	Add 6 Slots						
Properties		Settings		Objec	t Types	Jun	iper CB-SFF-PTX	
Peak Power [W]	0							
Weight [lb]	0							

## Buttons to add ports in card model

Another convenient way of creating multiple ports is using the copy 6 and copy 24 options in the port right click context menu.

Proceed to move and resize the ports as needed. Take advantage of the arrange and resize buttons on the toolbar.

Each port is an object in its own right. As such, when these ports are automatically created in the project, they will inherit default properties from the modeler. These values can be overridden on a per instance basis. These default properties include:

- Name: the name of the port. The default value is numeric and starts with 1 when the first port is created for the card type.
- Protocol: The physical port protocol is user defined, and can be overridden on a per instance basis. Examples of protocol values include ethernet, V.35, fast ethernet, etc.
- Connector: this is a descriptive field that comes in handy when assigning visual overrides based on the port connector. These values are user defined and can be overridden on a per instance basis. Examples of connector values include RJ45, SC or LC.

Note that ports can also have additional fields added to them. To do so, go to the catalog and find the 'Port' object. Click on it and add custom fields just like with any other type.

Properties	Settings	Object Types	HP SIC 4FSWP (JD620A)						
	0								
	0								
	0								
	0								
	HP MSR 4-Port 10/100Ba								
Vendor	Hewlett-Packard •								
Template									
Ports									
Slots									
Links									
Instances						_			
Slot Mapping									
Device Mapping									
				ι		- 4			J 4FSW
							<b>2</b>		
					Name	Name	Name	Name	

## Port modeled on top of a card backplane

Ports have certain right click context menu options, for easy manipulation and modeling:

- Delete: deletes the selected ports. Note that you can delete ports using the toolbar buttons as well and any deleted ports will delete every occurrence of that port in the project.
- · Select all of type: selects all instances of references for that type
- Copy 6: creates 6 copies of the selected port. This option is only enabled when one port is selected.
- Copy 24: creates 24 copies of the selected port. This option is only enabled when one port is selected.
- Connect to: this option lets you create pre defined internal connections between ports on the current card types. As explained above, these per defined links are usually utilized in the context of cross connections, not a common scenario for cards.
- Create Connections: If another port has been copied to the clipboard, this option will be available for creating a link. When selected a dialog will appear.
- Apply size to all of type: applies the size of the selected port (only enabled when one is selected) to the rest of the ports.
- Apply to all instances: applies the settings of the selected ports, to all occurrences of those ports in the project.



Right click context menu options for ports

# 5.3.3.4 Modeling references

The screenshot above shows a white "name" box. These boxes are created automatically for each port and is called the reference port object. This object is not real, it is just a representation of the location where a reference node would show up, when you connect the port with another node in the project. The white box then provides a convenient way for nicely auto-placing references in the project. In the project, the reference port is only visible after a connection is made to the physical port for an instance of that card type.

It is preferrable to first model the size and position of the "real" ports and then proceed with the resizing and positioning of the references. Sometimes when modeling the "real" ports, these white boxes get in the way (especially for cards with many ports). For that purpose in the modeler you can hide the references, work with the real ports, then display the references again and proceed to model the reference ports. To hide the references simply right click on them and select hide.

Use some of the other right click context options for reference ports:

- Select all of type: selects all instances of references for that type
- Resize: provides options to match the width and height of the selected reference/s to the dimensions of the connecting port/s.
- Align: provides options to align the selected reference ports with its connected physical port
- Apply size to all of type: applies the size of the selected reference (only enabled when one reference is selected) to the rest of the references
- Apply to all instances: applies the settings of the selected references, to all occurrences of those references in the project



Right click context menu options for references

# 5.3.3.5 Working with text and displayed fields

As explained above, ports can have an unlimited number of custom fields, and you can choose which ones will be displayed on the diagram by default. Port and reference port displayed fields can also be set in advance in the modeler so that they follow a pre defined pattern for each instance in the project. This saves time when creating nice looking card diagrams. Users can edit each text by double clicking on the displayed field or by right clicking on it and selecting 'Text'. Text can be resized and also rotated using the rotation handler.

To select which fields should be displayed by default, simply select the port and check the applicable fields on the properties window, as shown below.

Properties	Settings	Object Types Cisco WS-C2960X-48FPD-L
Name	1 🗾 🗾	Name Name Name N
Protocol	Eth 📃	
Connector	RJ45 📃 🗖	
Status	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Slot Name	Slot Name 📃 🗌	
Path		cisco = SMST = MSG = MSG = SIAC =

Port displayed field selection

# 5.3.3.6 Modeling reference node display field positioning

Selecting a reference node will display a list of all the "port" fields available. These fields can be used to predefine the default position of a reference node displayed field.

Properties	<u>Settings</u>
Name	Name 🔜 🗹
Protocol	Protocol
Connector	Connector
Status	Status
Slot Name	Slot Name 🛛 🔲
Path	Path 📃

Reference node display field selection list

By placing a check mark next to the field name it will enable the field within the modeler. Ultimately this will make the field data for this field type display when the card is used and a connection exists with this port.

Properties	Settings		Object Types Argus_32-0-10A
Name		✓	
Protocol		✓	
Connector			
Status			
Path			
Slot Name	Slot Name		
Project ID			-
Comment			i 😽 😸
ifOperStatus	ifOperStatus		
			2
			Namo 🛄

Reference node fields marked for display

# 5.3.3.7 Modeling slots for cards

In addition to modeling ports you can model slots by clicking on the add slot button in the insert menu. We will not go over this in detail as it is not a very common operation and it works exactly the same as with devices.

# 5.3.4 Special card fields

As we have seen with racks and devices, once a card type has been created, it contains three mandatory fields that exist for every instance of a card type in the project:

- · Id: a 14-digit system-generated number (not visible on the field list view)
- Name: the field that will store the name of each instance
- $\boldsymbol{\cdot}$  Type: the field that stores the type of card

Card types also contain a few special fields: environmental properties that a user can edit on a per instance basis and are inherited from the type once you start instantiating them in the project. These special card properties are the following:

- Peak Power [W]: this is the predefined static nameplate power value assigned to the type. Typically, the value entered here is the nameplate power published by the vendor.
- Weight [lb.]: this is the predefined static weight published by the vendor.
- Status (non-mandatory): a value usually associated with the ability of the card in a production environment to respond to a request.



## Card special fields

In sum, all card types contain at least five system fields. Below is the list of all system fields that exist for a new card type that was just created in the catalog:

Filter	Apply	Clear			
#	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value
1 1	Name		-1	<b>v</b>	<type> Appl</type>
2	Peak Power [W]		0	<ul><li>✓</li></ul>	0 Appl
3 1	Status		2		Appl
4 🛄	Туре		-2	<b>v</b>	Appl
5	Weight [lb]		1		0 Appl

Minimum set of fields (system fields) for cards

Besides the name, which you can edit using one of the default value auto naming functions, notice the two editable environmental fields, which you can edit:

- Max weight
- Power [W]

As mentioned previously, these two fields are inherited by every instance of the card type and can be edited (or overridden) in the project on an instance-by-instance basis.

## 5.3.5 Custom card fields

We have seen this before for devices and racks: in addition to modeling your types according to your specifications, you may want to create custom fields that represent other properties of the card instances. To create a custom property for a card type, go to the card types list and follow these steps:

• Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of fields (5, when there are no custom fields)

Card T	ypes [Switch to o	category Apply	view] To csv Add new	Import Zip Impo	ort Json				
#		Group	Name 🔺	Default Image	Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Enabled	
1	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	020-589-Breaker		5	0	0		
2	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	12 Port LC Card Patch Panel		5	0	0		
3	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	12500E DC Power Supply		5	0	0		
4	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	3Com 3C17766	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	5	0	0		
5	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	3Com 3C17767		5	0	0		
6	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	3Com 3C17768	C C C	5	0	0	•	
7	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	3Com 3C200100		5	0	0		
8	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	3Com 3C200300	None Mathematical Street Mathmmatical Street Mat	5	0	0		
9	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	3Com 3C200500	• +27 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	5	0	0		

• This will take you to the fields list for that card type. Click on the 'Add new' button

Card T	ypes [Switch to c	ategory vi	ew] To csv Add new	Import Zip	mport 、	Json			
Filter		Apply	Clear						
#		Group	Name 🔺	Default Image		Fields	Overrides	Instances	Is Enabled
1	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	020-589-Breaker	B		5	0	0	
2	0 🖻 ⊿	Card	12 Port LC Card Patch Panel	NEXCES DEXEM ALIZED DEVEN DEVEN DEVEN		5	0	0	

- This opens the dialog for adding a new field, where you:
- name the field
- pick a default value for your field
- pick a font size for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- set the field as mandatory during the data entry process
- set it as displayed, so that when it is filled out, that value shows up on the diagram (usually next to the card)
- pick a font color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram
- pick a fill color for the field, if it is displayed on the diagram

Add Cisco Sl	M-ES2-24-P Field X
Name:	
Default Value:	
Font size:	10
Mandatory:	false 🔹
Displayed:	false 🔹
Font color:	-
Fill color:	~
	Submit Cancel

Once the field has been added you can then edit any field parameters from the fields list, as seen previously:

- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated object type.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Property order: this is self-explanatory and lets you choose the order in which the property appears in the properties window of the project when you click on an instance of that type
- Is mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered into the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered into this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created. The apply button next to the field lets you apply the default value for that field to all instances of that type in the project.
- Is tree Label: determines the data value that will be displayed in the hierarchy browser. Change this if you want to see a different value displayed for an instance of this type in the hierarchy. The default is typically the name.
- List Items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.
- Overrides: click on the value to bring up a list of the overrides associated with this field and object type.
- Lock List: Allow an override list to be non-editable. If this is checked then a user cannot override the list values. They must choose a value that is already in the list.
- Is Unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is Unique (all types): Restricts all new inputs of this field for any object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this object type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Apply Font settings link: applies any font settings for this field to all instances of the object where the field is displayed.

Filter	r	Apply	Clear			
#		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value
1	Ē	Assigned To		3 🗸	·	Арр
2		Name		-1		<type> App</type>
3	_	Peak Power [W]		0		0 App

New custom field for a card type

## 5.3.5.1 Deleting a custom field

Deleting a custom field is easy: go to the fields list view for the card type and simply press the delete button on the left of the field you want to remove.

Filter		Apply	Clear			
#	_	Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value
C	Ē	Assigned To		3 🔨	•	Арр
2		Name		-1	2	<type> App</type>
3		Peak Power [W]		0		О Арр

Deleting a custom field for a card type

Notice that the delete button is not enabled for system fields.

### Attention!

As you might expect, all the values for the field corresponding to instances of that type in the project will be deleted. As such, be careful with this operation, since it cannot be undone.

# 5.3.6 Creating list items and visual overrides for a card field

Just as with devices or racks you may want to set your own visual overrides for cards. You can access the list items and visual overrides list for a card type field by clicking on the override number, as shown below:

lter		Apply	Clear						Records	s per page 1
ŧ		Name 🔺	Is in Properties	Property Order	Is Mandatory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides	Lock List
1	Ē	Assigned To	] 🗹 [	3 、	•	Apply	0	0	0	
2		Name		-1		<type> Apply</type>	۲			
3		Peak Power [W]		0		0 Apply	0	0	0	
4	_	Status		2		Apply	0	0	0	

Visual override and list item link for a card field

To create a new list item or visual override for a card type field, go to the fields list and follow these steps:

- Click on the hyperlink that shows the number of overrides (obviously 0 when there are none)
- This will take you to the overrides list for that card type. Click on the 'Add new' button

GRAPHICAL		
Value Lists an	d Overrides for Objects (Field: Weight [lb])	To csv Add new
Filter	Apply Clear	
No records	Touna	

- This opens the dialog for adding a new override, where you:
- provide the value that will trigger the override (in the case of a simple list item this is just the list item value)
- specify whether this is an override or not (if you choose false then this completes the process for adding a list item)
- choose the rule that will trigger the override (equal to, contains, greater than, less than)
- set the override image

Add Override o	or List Item	x
Value:	l	
Override:	true 🔻	
Rule:	= •	
Override Image:	Choose an image	
		_
	Submit Cancel	

Once the override has been added you can then edit any parameters from the overrides list, as seen before when analyzing nodes:

- Value
- Rule
- Is Override
- Override
- Instance effect
- Parent effect
- Upwards propagation

## 5.3.6.1 Deleting an override or list item

To delete an override or list item for a card field go to the overrides list view for the card type and field and simply press the delete button on the left of the entry you want to remove.

# **6 Special objects**

netTerrain has a set of predefined categories of objects (a.k.a. "special objects" or "other objects") which are mostly used as an additional "decoration" or "collaboration" layer in addition to nodes, smart objects and links.

This section includes the "palette" objects (documents, comments, shapes and stamps) as well as free graphics. Palette objects can be added to a project clicking on the palette object icon under the insert menu or using the diagram right click context menu.

	RAPHICAL TWORKS	Page	Insert	Edit Ar	range To	ols Impo	ort & Export	Maps		
$\bigcirc$	S		Ē	Т		Õ				
Nodes 🔻		Racks 🔫	Devices 🗸	Text	Palette 🔻	Picture		Task		
Hiera	rchy				Comm	ent				
Top Leve	2				Docum	nent				
- 🕀 Logic	al				★ Shape	•				
🕀 🕀 Physi	cal				Stamp	•				
• 🕀 Prom	ina_48u_Ra	ick								
• • • • Syste	m & App Vi	ews			•		WORK	5		

Palette objects button on the project side

Property tags are also grouped here for convenience, although strictly speaking they do not represent objects.

Users can customize these objects by adding their own fields to them, among other features, and they can be accessed from the "other objects" section in the catalog dashboard.

Other Objects		
Summary		
Document Fields	2	
Comment Fields	2	
Shape Fields	2	
Stamp Fields	2	
Picture Fields	2	
Property Tags	6	

"Other objects" section in the catalog dashboard

# 6.1 Palette object and picture fields

Customizing a palette object type or free picture type simply requires clicking on the field link, next to the appropriate group, as shown in the previous screenshot. The user will be taken to a list view, like the ones used for regular catalog objects.

ilter	Apply	Clear	С		E			D	Re	cords per page <u>100</u>	Show Id Field	Default sor	ting
#	Name 🔺	Туре	Is in Properties	Is Mandatory	Default Value	Is Tree Label	List Items	Overrides L	ck List	Is Unique (this type)	Is Displayed	Justification	Font
1 🔟	Name	Document			<type> Appl</type>	y 💿						Top Left 🗸	
2 111	Path	Document			Appl	y O	0	0				Top Left 🗸	

Example of a field list for documents

The different sections or features comprising this list field are like other list fields seen before:

### Section A

- To CSV: this button will export the table's data into a downloadable CSV file.
- Add New: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new field.
- Tagging: the tagging button opens a tagging selection dialog, allowing you to assign a set of fields to a "Tag" (a label). All existing tags appear in the settings tab for a diagram in the netTerrain project. Fields associated with a tag label can be turned on and off within a diagram.

### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of fields in the table.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing. The records per page default value can be set by the administrator within the admin console.

## Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view. If you would only like to display the fields called IP Address, then you simply type in the search criteria into the filter box and press the 'Apply' button. You can change the filter by typing in new criteria and pressing the 'Apply' button. If you no longer need the filter press the 'Clear' button.

## Section D

- Records per page: you can easily change the records per page value to something less than the default value. So, for instance if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50, simply proceed to change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator. You cannot exceed the maximum number of records per page that was set within the admin console. If the maximum records per page is 500 then you will not be able to set a value higher than 500.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default Sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name".

### Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Options (no label): right next to the ## button there are two options under a blank heading ('Apply' and 'Delete'). Using the Apply button will assign any settings that are changed for this field to all instances of the object that the field is being used on. Selecting Delete will remove the field record. If the field is in use and there is data being stored within the field all this data will be lost so be careful when using this option.
- Name: the field name that will be displayed for the associated object type.
- Type: Object that the field is associated with.
- Is in properties: this feature is useful to control what end users can see on the properties window for a given instance of that type. For example, you can uncheck a field and prevent end users from seeing the data associated with the instances on the project.
- Is Mandatory: if this option is checked it means that some data must be entered in the field when an object instance is created in the project. This is typically used in conjunction with an assigned default value to ensure some data is entered in this field. This field also cannot be deleted if the mandatory check box is enabled.
- Default value: this is the default value that will be displayed for a given field when a new instance of the object type is created.
- List Items: list items are like drop down boxes (or combo boxes) that offer end users a finite set of values available for data entry on a given field for a given type. Click on the value to open a table with all list items associated with this field and object type.
- Overrides: overrides are rules associated with one or more fields for that type. Clicking on the overrides ## will redirect you to a table with all assigned overrides (more on that later).
- Lock List: Allows an override list to be non-editable. If this is set, then a user cannot override the list values. They must choose a value that is in the list.
- Is Unique (this type): Restricts all new inputs of this field for this object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is Unique (all types): Restricts all new inputs of this field for any object type to be unique across all instances.
- Is displayed: when checked, the field's value will be displayed on the diagram for an instance of this object type. This can also be controlled on an instance basis as well as type-wide (see End User Guide).
- Justification: sets the alignment. See the settings for the field instance for more alignment options.
- Font color: the color of the text value that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Fill color: the background color of the text that is displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the fill color on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).
- Font size: the size of the text that is being displayed in the project area diagram for this field. Note that you can change the font size on an instance-by-instance basis from the project as well (see End User Guide).

# 6.2 Field or property tags (layering)

As explained in previous sections, property tags allow you to associate fields to a "tag" (i.e. layer or label). All existing tags appear in the settings tab for a diagram in the netTerrain project. Fields associated with a tag label can be turned on and off within a diagram. So, you could assign a field like IP Address to a "Hide IP" tag. If you happen to be on a diagram that has objects containing that field, you could then turn all IP Address fields on or off without having to individually uncheck them from the properties window for each instance. There is a system tag named 'Uncategorized' in the diagram settings panel that when toggled affects the display of all fields.

ty Tags	To csv Add new A			в
	Apply Clear	С	D	Records per page 100
	Name 🔺			
Ē	IP			
	Name			
Ē	Tag1	E		
Ē	Tag2			
Ē	Tag3			
	Туре			

### Property tag list view

Let's review each section of this list view:

### Section A

- To CSV: this button allows you to export the table view to a downloadable CSV file.
- Add New: clicking this button will display a form for creating a new Property Tag.

### Section B

- Records in table: displays the total number of tags in the table.
- Records on page: displays the total number of records on the table page that you are currently viewing.

#### Section C

• Filter: allows you to filter information in the current table view. If you would only like to display the objects related to "Cisco" in their name, then type "Cisco" into the filter box and press the 'Apply' button. You can change the filter by simply typing in new criteria and pressing the 'Apply' button. If you no longer need the filter press the 'Clear' button to remove the filter.

## Section D

- Records per page: you can change the records per page value to a value that is less than the default value. So, if the default is 100 records per page and you would like to see 50 then change the value. Note that the default value is set in the admin console and can only be changed by an administrator.
- Show ID Field: hides or shows the ID value for the record. The ID value is the unique ID that is assigned to record in netTerrain.
- Default Sorting: if you sorted the table by a column name and would like to return the table to the default sort value press this button. The default sorting for a table view is by "Name". Changing the default sorting is temporary. The default is restored once you navigate away from the table view.

## Section E

- #: the row number for the current table view. This will change depending on the filter, sort value or number of records per page. Bear in mind this ## is just a reference to the order in which the record appears in the visual representation of the information on the table and has no relationship to the actual data stored in the database.
- Options (no label): the 'Delete' option allows you to delete an object. Note that you can only delete an object if it is not being used in netTerrain. If it is being used, you would need to remove all instances of the object before you can delete the object.
- Name: The name of the tag. Tagging of fields can be setup within the field summary pages of the catalog or by selecting an objects field list.